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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: A pleasant good

          3  morning to everyone and welcome to the hearing of

          4  the Committee on Fire and Criminal Justice Services.

          5                 Today we will be considering several

          6  bills that will amend the City's Fire Prevention

          7  Code and that demonstrate the need for its over-

          8  haul.  We will also be hearing about the hazardous

          9  waste explosion at Kaltech Industries in Chelsea.

         10                 The Fire Prevention Code was first

         11  enacted in 1918, 85 years ago.  Much of today's code

         12  dates to its 1937 revision. Since then the code has

         13  only undergone sporadic revision and not been

         14  systematically reviewed and revised.  As a result,

         15  New York City's Regulations of Fire Hazard is out of

         16  date.

         17                 The legislation we'll be considering

         18  today highlights some of the shortcomings of the

         19  Fire Prevention Code. For example, Int. 570, which

         20  was introduced by Council Member Koppell, would

         21  update provisions regulating places of public

         22  assembly such as theaters and nightclubs.  Right now

         23  places of public assembly are required to have a

         24  fireguard on staff, to assist in fire prevention.

         25  However, the code only requires one fireguard at
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          2  each facility, regardless of its size, nature, and

          3  occupancy load. Int. 570 attempts to address this

          4  problem.

          5                 Int. 414, introduced by the Mayor,

          6  also demonstrates that the Fire Prevention Code is

          7  outdated.  This bill would repeal the section of the

          8  Fire Code, regulating dry cleaning and dry dyeing

          9  establishments.  I understand that this 1937 section

         10  was made redundant by stricter provisions in the

         11  building code and removing it as a matter of

         12  housekeeping.  The relevant provisions in the

         13  building code however were enacted in 1968.  It has

         14  taken us 35 years to address this redundancy.

         15                 Today we will also be hearing from

         16  the U.S. Chemical Safety and Hazard Investigation

         17  Board about the April 2002 explosion at Kaltech

         18  Industries, an accident that injured 36 people,

         19  including 14 members of the public and 6

         20  firefighters.

         21                 According to the Board, the explosion

         22  could have been avoided if the fire code properly

         23  regulated the handling and storage of hazardous

         24  materials.  The Kaltech incident should serve as a

         25  warning to the public, that public safety can be
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          2  endangered by an outdated fire code.

          3                 New York City could address the

          4  problems raised by today's bill and avoid future

          5  Kaltech incidents by adopting a Model Fire Code.

          6  Since model codes are updated regularly, the City

          7  would be assured of always having modern

          8  regulations.  I hope that the Administration will

          9  support my call to adopt a Model Fire Code.

         10                 I look forward to discussing these

         11  and other matters today and I would like to say that

         12  I am joined today by Council Member Tony Avella of

         13  Queens, a member of this Committee, as well as

         14  Council Member Oliver Koppell, whose Intro. We will

         15  be hearing today.  Shortly we should be joined by a

         16  number of members from this Committee, but we would

         17  like to get started this morning by hearing from the

         18  Administration, the Fire Department of New York City

         19  and seated for testimony is Chief Ronald Spadafora

         20  of the FDNY and James Hansen of the FDNY.  Good

         21  morning gentlemen.

         22                 CHIEF SPADAFORA Good morning.

         23                 MR. HANSEN: Good morning.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Madam Chair.

         25  With your indulgence, might I just make a very brief
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          2  remark.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Certainly Council

          4  Member Koppell.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Hold on one

          7  moment, we would like to hear from Council Member

          8  Oliver Koppell.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Number one,

         10  I want to thank you as Chair and your staff for

         11  looking into the proposed legislation that we have

         12  suggested dealing with fire safety at places of

         13  public assembly, particularly places such as

         14  nightclubs, places of public performance, movie

         15  theaters and such.

         16                 I think that the horrendous tragedy

         17  that took place in Rhode Island and similar tragedy,

         18  of not quite the same proportion in Chicago lately,

         19  indicates that there is an enormous need to be sure

         20  that nightclubs and other places of public assembly

         21  are safe.

         22                 I just would like to say Madam Chair

         23  and to those here, last night I attended a

         24  performance at an upstairs theater at Studio 54, a

         25  musical performance.  In my opinion it was extremely
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          2  unsafe.  The number of exits was limited to two.

          3  One of the exits was obscured so the people couldn't

          4  even know there was an exit there if they sat in the

          5  theater.  You only knew there was an exit if you

          6  went behind the stage, which is where one of the

          7  exits were.              One of the provisions of my

          8  proposed legislation is that before any performance,

          9  exit signs are pointed out to the audience.  Now,

         10  you may say oh my goodness, well how can we do such

         11  a thing.  Every time you get on an airplane,

         12  somebody points out where the exits are on that

         13  airplane.  It's just we're not accustomed to it.

         14  This would require that exits be pointed out in

         15  movies theaters, you could have it just on the

         16  screen.

         17                 What happened in Rhode Island is that

         18  the personnel at the club were not trained how to

         19  handle the crowd when there was a fire.  As a

         20  result, people all crowded up against one exit,

         21  rather than being disbursed and over 100 people

         22  died, mostly young people.

         23                 In my opinion, the provisions in New

         24  York, as well as the inspections in New York are

         25  woefully inadequate and something must be done.  I
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          2  hope the Committee will work with me and with the

          3  Fire Department.  I'm not saying my legislation is

          4  perfect in every way.  We would love to have more

          5  input, but something must be done or we will see a

          6  repetition.  And, I predict right here, that if

          7  nothing is done about fire safety in New York places

          8  of accommodation, people will die within the

          9  foreseeable future because of inadequate fire

         10  protection.  And, I saw it last night, I saw it a

         11  few weeks ago at another place.  There is simply

         12  inadequate attention to this problem and tragedy

         13  will be the result.

         14                 Thank you Madam Chair.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you Council

         16  Member Koppell.

         17                 We have been joined by Council Member

         18  Chris Quinn of Manhattan, in whose District the

         19  Kaltech Industry incident took place and we would

         20  like to hear her statement at this time.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you Madam

         22  Chair.  As was said, I represent West 9th Street in

         23  Chelsea in the heart of my District where the

         24  explosion happened about a year and one- half or so

         25  ago.  You know, we got incredibly lucky during that
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          2  explosion, that there weren't just mass casualties

          3  and mass fatalities.  I arrived on the scene not

          4  long after the explosion and when you saw the amount

          5  of damage, when you saw the impact, you assumed that

          6  there was just going to be an unbelievable tragedy.

          7                 We got very lucky.  We cannot move

          8  forward in the City of New York and assume that luck

          9  will always be on our side. We need to make sure

         10  that our fire code is a 21st Century fire code and a

         11  fire code that is written in a way that it is

         12  elastic, so to speak.  That it will be able to

         13  evolve as technology evolved and as science evolved.

         14    You know, we need to make sure that we have a fire

         15  code so that when Inspectors go out and inspect,

         16  they are able to identify situations, which will

         17  become -- which have the potential to be deadly and

         18  dangerous.  Unfortunately, I don't believe our Fire

         19  Code presently has enough of 21st Century reality

         20  based in it and I don't believe it really has the

         21  safeguards and the prohibitions in it to prevent

         22  things like what happened on 19th Street, from

         23  happening again.

         24                 Many parts of the City are mixed- use

         25  areas.  We wouldn't want an accident like that to

                                                            10

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  happen anywhere.  But, the reality of the five

          3  boroughs is we have places where work,

          4  manufacturing, work with chemicals goes on, not far

          5  at all from where people live or where children go

          6  to school.  So, we need to be extra careful with our

          7  fire code given the reality of how closely people

          8  live and work in New York City.

          9                 I am also very glad we are having

         10  this hearing today in that it is very close to the

         11  release of the Federal Report in response to what

         12  happened on West 19th Street, because I was very,

         13  very distressed by the City's response to what

         14  happened on West 19th Street. As I understand it,

         15  there was great resistance by the City to provide

         16  the Federal Inspectors with the information they

         17  needed and resistance to allowing the Federal

         18  Inspectors to go on site and see the conditions in a

         19  way that would have allowed them to fully document

         20  what happened, with the goal of making sure that it

         21  never happened again, and with the goal of helping

         22  us in New York City, with their expertise as the

         23  Federal Experts in this area.

         24            Eventually, with the help of elected

         25  officials and Congress, we were able to get that
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          2  access for the Inspectors.  But, time was lost and

          3  as we know with fires, when time is lost, evidence

          4  is lost and when evidence is lost we will learn less

          5  and be able to prepare less well for the future.

          6                 So, having this Committee involved

          7  gives me a greater confidence that as we move

          8  forward we will get the answers quickly and directly

          9  and bring all Government Agencies to the table to

         10  assure the safety of New York City's residence and

         11  its workers.

         12                 So, thank you very much and I look

         13  forward to our efforts to update the code.  Thank

         14  you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you Council

         16  Member Quinn. We will now commence testimony from

         17  the New York City Fire Department and welcome you

         18  both again gentlemen.

         19                 MR. HANSEN: Thank you.  Good morning,

         20  my name is James Hansen.  I'm the Director of

         21  Engineering for the Bureau of Fire Prevention, New

         22  York City Fire Department.

         23                 I would like to thank you for the

         24  opportunity to speak with you today about the three

         25  bills that amend the New York City Fire Code.  We
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          2  support the first two bills, Int. 414 and 415. We

          3  support the overall intent of the third bill, Int.

          4  570, but do have significant concerns about it,

          5  which Chief Spadafora will discuss with you today.

          6  Int. 414 and Int. 415.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Excuse me Mr.

          8  Hansen, would you please bring the microphone closer

          9  to your mouth, we are having some ventilation noise

         10  in here.

         11                 MR. HANSEN:  Fine.  The Department

         12  supports Int. 414, which repeals those sections of

         13  the fire code that relate to dry cleaning and dry

         14  dyeing establishments.  The Department proposes

         15  these changes in order to address certain

         16  inconsistencies, and some overlap that currently

         17  exists between the New York City Building and Fire

         18  Codes.

         19                 Specifically, the fire code currently

         20  allows dry cleaners to use flammable liquids as a

         21  dry cleaning compound whereas, the building code,

         22  since 1968 has prohibited use of flammable liquids

         23  for this purpose.  The building code does allow

         24  combustible liquids to be used as dry cleaning

         25  compounds.  These are less volatile liquids, with a

                                                            13

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  higher flashpoint than flammable liquids, but are

          3  still subject to the Building Department Code's

          4  construction, ventilation and sprinkler

          5  requirements.

          6                 Just to give you a sense of what a

          7  flammable and a combustible is, using examples you

          8  would probably be familiar with, anti- freeze that

          9  goes in the radiator of your car is combustible and

         10  gasoline is flammable.

         11                 The Department believes that the

         12  current building code provisions relating to dry

         13  cleaning, dry dyeing establishments adequately and

         14  effectively regulate this area.  Moreover, the

         15  Department believes that the conflicting or

         16  overlapping fire code provisions should be

         17  eliminated to promote compliance and to lessen the

         18  uncertainty and confusion for those businesses or

         19  persons that must abide by these regulations.

         20                 To clarify, the sections to be

         21  repealed by the proposed legislation are: One, the

         22  definitional section which, as its name implies,

         23  simply defines dry cleaning and dry dyeing

         24  establishments.  And two, the section which

         25  regulates the location of dry cleaning or dry dyeing
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          2  establishments.  For example, pursuant to this

          3  section, a dry cleaning or dry dyeing establishment

          4  may not be located in a wooden structure or in a

          5  building where drugs, tobacco or other volatile

          6  substances or products are sold.  Currently, the

          7  building code and City's Zoning Resolution

          8  similarly, and the Department believes adequately,

          9  regulate the location of these establishments.

         10                 The Department also supports Int.

         11  415.  This proposed legislation raises the threshold

         12  quantity of liquefied carbon dioxide for which a

         13  City permit is required.  Liquefied carbon dioxide

         14  is a compressed form of CO2 and is non- combustible.

         15  The fire code lists a number of compressed gases

         16  that in certain quantities, may not be stored or

         17  sold without a permit.

         18                 Currently, a permit is required for

         19  liquefied carbon dioxide when an individual cylinder

         20  is greater than 1.5 cubic feet or if the total

         21  aggregate of all cylinders together exceeds 12 cubic

         22  feet.  The proposed amendment would raise the permit

         23  required threshold to any quantity that exceeds 60

         24  gallons.  This is consistent with the laws in other

         25  jurisdictions.
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          2                 This measure, while still protecting

          3  public safety, also relieves small businesses such

          4  as bars and restaurants from the permit and fee

          5  requirements now imposed under the current fire code

          6  for the storage of relatively small amounts of

          7  carbon dioxide. Bars and restaurants, for example,

          8  ordinarily use CO2 for carbonated beverages.  Even

          9  with this permit exemption for small quantities of

         10  CO2, all fire code provisions that currently

         11  regulate its storage and or sale would still apply

         12  to these businesses.               This includes

         13  Fire Department Rule 23- 11, which sets forth

         14  requirements for CO2 container design and other

         15  design and installation requirements needed to

         16  ensure safe storage and installation.  Plus, all of

         17  these buildings that contain any amounts of carbon

         18  dioxide are subject to Fire Department inspections,

         19  typically once a year.  If any infractions of the

         20  fire code's CO2 provisions are found during these

         21  inspections, violations would be issued.

         22                 Moreover, this amendment is proposed

         23  in light of improvements in the design and

         24  construction of compressed gas cylinders, including

         25  stainless steel construction and the more reliable
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          2  pressure relief valves, as well as stricter Federal

          3  cylinder testing requirements.  Together, these

          4  improvements and testing requirements lessen the

          5  risk traditionally associated with carbon dioxide

          6  storage.

          7                 CHIEF SPADAFORA:  Good morning

          8  Chairperson Clarke and Council Members.  I am Chief

          9  Ronald Spadafora.  I am the Assistant Chief for Fire

         10  Prevention and I am here to talk about the last bill

         11  Int. 570.  This bill amends those provisions of the

         12  fire code relating to places of public assembly.

         13  The introduction of this bill was apparently

         14  prompted by such incidents as the Rhode Island

         15  nightclub fire that occurred earlier this year,

         16  killing nearly 100 people and injuring scores more.

         17                 The Fire Department is in the

         18  business of protecting the safety and health of New

         19  Yorkers, as well as those who come to visit our

         20  City.  We therefore ordinarily support measures that

         21  promote or further that goal. The Fire Department

         22  believes that the intent of this proposed

         23  legislation is commendable, but we think that much

         24  more extensive dialogue should take place between

         25  the Fire Department and this Committee to ensure
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          2  that these goals are actually achieved.

          3                 Right now it is hard to gauge whether

          4  Int. 570 will actually avert that kind of disaster

          5  it seeks to address.  Many of its provisions are not

          6  clear.  This lack of clarity will impede compliance,

          7  which means safety may be compromised and the goals

          8  of the legislation may not be achieved.

          9                 Without going over each section of

         10  the bill today, suffice it to say that some sections

         11  of the bill on their face seem acceptable.  Others

         12  appear to cover territory already covered under the

         13  fire code or require action that the Fire Department

         14  already mandates.  Still others simply raise

         15  questions that may be resolved by working with the

         16  Committee and the drafters of the legislation.     Of

         17  most concern to the Department however, are those

         18  sections that contain vague or unclear language and

         19  those dealing with the following areas.  The

         20  Fireguards firefighting and remediating

         21  responsibilities.  Employee training, drills and

         22  other responsibilities.  Any security device or

         23  system that emits any medium that could obscure a

         24  means of egress.  That's unclear.  Fire safety and

         25  evacuation plans, the training and the drills that
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          2  go with those fire safety and evacuation plans.

          3  Fire safety training and responsibilities for

          4  designated employees.

          5                 Serious concerns about all of these

          6  provisions prevent us from endorsing or supporting

          7  this proposed local law at this time.

          8                 One thing that I would like to bring

          9  to this Committee's attention is this Department's

         10  decades long history of nightclub, social club fire

         11  prevention and fire safety initiatives. This City

         12  suffered two horrific nightclub fires during the

         13  last 30 years, one was the Blue Angel in 1975, where

         14  seven people lost their lives and the other was the

         15  Happy Land Social Club fire in 1990, where 87 people

         16  lost their lives.

         17                 In the wake of both of these

         18  tragedies, the New York City Fire Department

         19  undertook many measures to address the deficiencies

         20  that led to those disasters.  These included

         21  amending the fire code relating to social clubs and

         22  places of public assembly.  For example, enhanced

         23  sprinkler, alarm, emergency lighting and trained

         24  fireguard requirements were enacted after the Blue

         25  Angel fire.  The law is know as the Blue Angel Law.

                                                            19

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2                 The Department also established a

          3  Social Club Task Force, which was recently

          4  resurrected in the wake of the Rhode Island fire.

          5  You now have not only civilian Inspectors inspecting

          6  places of public assembly, at night, on the

          7  weekends, but you also have uniform Inspectors,

          8  Company Officers, as well as Fire Marshall's

          9  performing these inspections. This Task Force,

         10  through stepped- up enforcement ensures social club

         11  compliance with public safety laws by aggressively

         12  seeking out illegal uses and known or alleged

         13  abusers in the industry.  The Task Force orders an

         14  establishment to close when continued occupancy

         15  poses an imminent hazard to the public.  Also, since

         16  the Happy Land fire, significant civil penalties can

         17  now be imposed on building owners or operators who

         18  violate a vacate or seal order.

         19                 I raise these issues to point out

         20  that the Fire Department is acutely aware of the

         21  concerns that gave rise to Int. 570 and it is and

         22  has been taking measures for more than three decades

         23  to address those issues.  As a result the City's

         24  place of public assembly laws are among the safest

         25  in the country.
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          2                 In conclusion, while we fully support

          3  Int. 414 and Int. 415, we believe that Int. 570 is a

          4  good starting point for further discussion on the

          5  issues and we hope that those discussions commence

          6  sometime in the near future.

          7                 Again, I thank you for the

          8  opportunity to speak with you today about these

          9  proposed bills.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  I want to thank

         11  both of you gentlemen for your testimony here this

         12  morning and I'd like to start by asking a couple of

         13  questions, more than a couple, but to start by

         14  asking, since the law was enacted, our fire codes

         15  were enacted in 1980 -- 1918, excuse me. I know,

         16  it's hard for me to go back that far.  Has the

         17  City's Fire Code ever undergone a section by section

         18  systematic revision?

         19                 MR. HANSEN:  We have looked at

         20  sections, to my knowledge they have not gone through

         21  the entire code, but we have revised certain

         22  sections of the code after completing our review.

         23                 One of the most recent ones was the

         24  underground tanks, the Federal government and the

         25  State have regulations with regard to underground
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          2  tank installations, affecting mostly gas stations

          3  and we did make a complete revision of that entire

          4  sub chapter of the Fire Code, making our regulations

          5  consistent with Federal and State regulations and

          6  then incorporating those requirement that we felt

          7  necessary for New York City.  That was the most

          8  recent one.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Given your best

         10  estimate, or to the best of your knowledge, what

         11  percentage of New York City's Fire Code would you

         12  say has been revised since 1918?

         13                 MR. HANSEN:  I'm not sure I am

         14  prepared to give you the answer to that question.

         15  I'm sorry.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay. Okay.

         17                 Do you believe the City needs to

         18  modernize its fire code?

         19                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: The Fire Department

         20  is in the process of working with the Buildings

         21  Department and various other agencies in adopting

         22  the International Building Code.  That is going to

         23  be an 18 month process, possibly a two- year

         24  process.  We have Chief Officers on the various

         25  Committees, there are 14 Committees dealing with

                                                            22

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  adopting the International Building Code. One of the

          3  things we have discussed is the possibility of

          4  adopting also the International Fire Code in

          5  conjunction with the International Building Code, or

          6  maybe at a later date.  It's one of the things we

          7  are discussing at this time.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  So, you're

          9  saying that currently, while we are doing this

         10  review of the building code the question of revising

         11  our fire code simultaneously has come up. Have you

         12  made any definitive decisions to do so, or is it

         13  just sort of cursory to the fact that the housing

         14  code is being reviewed right now?

         15                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: This is something

         16  that me and the Chief of Fire Prevention have

         17  discussed as a possibility of working on,

         18  incorporating a fire code as part of what we are

         19  doing now, in regards to adopting a Model Building

         20  Code, which is the IBC.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Has this

         22  recommendation or this observation been shared with

         23  the Commissioner?

         24                 CHIEF SPADAFORA:  At this time, I

         25  don't know.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.  I'm a bit

          3  concerned about the lack of clarity of where we are

          4  with respect to revision of the fire code, simply

          5  because our current code, and I understand it's

          6  voluminous, it dates back to 1918.  Given where we

          7  are in the 21st Century, it would just seem to me

          8  that there would be much more of I guess an urgency

          9  to do that type of a review.

         10                 I am sure that our code is outdated

         11  in many ways. Can you cite some examples of ways in

         12  which our code is outdated?

         13                 MR. HANSEN: I think if you look at

         14  some of the model codes and compare it to what is

         15  included currently in the New York City Fire Code, I

         16  think what you will find in the model code is that

         17  they perhaps cover areas that may not be covered

         18  completely in the Fire Code.

         19                 I guess specific examples, I guess

         20  one is with regard to hazardous materials.  The fire

         21  code currently has very strict regulations for

         22  flammable and combustible liquids, which represent a

         23  fire hazard.  But, if you look in the model codes,

         24  the model codes get into other types of hazardous

         25  materials that the current fire code does not give
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          2  the Fire Commissioner the authority to regulate.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Would you say

          4  that in itself just as one example, would endanger

          5  public safety?

          6                 MR. HANSEN: I'm not prepared to

          7  answer that.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.  What cost

          9  would be associated with the City adopting a Model

         10  Fire Code.  Have we been able to quantify that?

         11                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: No, we haven't.

         12  That would have to be something we would have to

         13  discuss at a higher level than I am able to talk

         14  about here.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: So, we haven't

         16  really even gotten to that point yet.  I understand

         17  that the Model Building and Fire Codes are closely

         18  interrelated and intended to be adopted together.

         19  How closely is the FDNY involved in the review of

         20  the Model Building Code.

         21                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: Well, Chief Dau

         22  (phonetic), who is the Chief of Fire Prevention, he

         23  is acting as a Chairman, I'm an Assistant Chairman,

         24  in this process.  We also have Chief Officers who

         25  are acting in the various Committees that encompass
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          2  the entire building codes so the Fire Department has

          3  been very active in participating in this process,

          4  having a say in any changes or any adoptions that

          5  need to take place.

          6                 What we are doing, we are reviewing

          7  the 1968 Code, the new building code, which is in

          8  place right now, we're reviewing that code and also

          9  the International Building Code, we're reviewing

         10  what needs to be put into the code, added or

         11  subtracted from the new building code into the IBC

         12  to meet our needs.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: In light of some

         14  of what we talked about briefly, in terms of looking

         15  at adopting a Model Fire Code, while going through

         16  this current review of the Model Building Code,

         17  wouldn't you say that the two are so closely inter-

         18  related that in terms of labor and time it would

         19  make sense for us to adopt both codes

         20  simultaneously?  I mean, they are so inter- related,

         21  do you think that adopting a companion Model Fire

         22  Code would make sense?

         23                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: Well, there are

         24  numerous issues involved in regards to funding and

         25  regards to manpower time, various issues that would
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          2  need to be discussed in regards to doing both

          3  concurrently.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I'd like to

          5  suggest that it's probably more cost- effective if

          6  we were to embark upon both. Simply because you

          7  already have the expertise at the table and coming

          8  back after the fact, you know that's a whole other

          9  segment of cost, time and labor.  Perhaps we should

         10  really suggest this to the Commissioner.  I know

         11  that this Committee will certainly send forth that

         12  signal to the Administration.  While it may cost

         13  more than anticipated in the short term, in the long

         14  term they have to come back after the fact and

         15  recognize that we really do need to update our fire

         16  code when the expertise is currently at the table.

         17  Seems to me almost a waste, a waste of time, waste

         18  of expertise, but again, that's something I think

         19  that we will certainly suggest to both, to the

         20  Commissioner and whatever the Administration sees

         21  fit, we expect they will send some response back to

         22  us.

         23                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: The Fire Department

         24  is also very active in the WTC Building Code Task

         25  Force.  We are on all the Committees and helped in
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          2  formulating the 21 recommendations and proposals

          3  that were put forth in regards to the meetings we

          4  had and the drafting of those recommendations.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Well, it seems to

          6  me that, you know, we are going to be very informed

          7  through the various entities that are currently

          8  looking at areas in which public safety are going to

          9  be addressed through both the building codes and the

         10  WTC Task Force, that this information is best

         11  utilized while it is fresh, in both mind and people

         12  are dedicated to the task.  For us to come back, who

         13  knows, years later to try to update the fire code,

         14  again I think that we're maybe losing a window of

         15  opportunity to utilize the enthusiasm that folks

         16  have right now in, you know, really making sure that

         17  these things come to fruition, while we could be

         18  proactively dealing with a very outdated fire code.

         19                 I understand that New York City is

         20  permitted under State law to have its own building

         21  and fire codes.  Provided these codes are stricter

         22  than the State codes.  Given that the State has

         23  adopted the 2003 International Fire Code, can it

         24  still be said that the City's 1918 fire code is

         25  stricter than the State's fire code?
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          2                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: That determination

          3  has to come from the State Council. So, I would

          4  refer that to them.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Has there been

          6  any review by State Council of our code?  To your

          7  knowledge?

          8                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: None that I'm aware

          9  of.  No.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.

         11                 Well, what would be your opinion on

         12  it?

         13                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: My opinion is that

         14  the New York

         15  City Fire Code in certain areas are significantly

         16  stricter than what the State currently allows.  In

         17  some areas, it may not be as strict, --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Madam Chair,

         19  could we ask the witness to move the microphone

         20  closer because I can't hear him.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.  Thank you

         22  Council Member.

         23                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: Just to repeat my

         24  answer, I think that New York City in many areas has

         25  much stricter requirements than New York State has.
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          2  In some areas it may not be precisely as strict,

          3  however the determination of whether New York City

          4  Codes are as strict or stricter than the State is

          5  not made on a, what I understand, on an individual

          6  line- by- line basis, it's an overall evaluation of

          7  the codes.  Again, that determination is subject to

          8  the State's review.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Have we ever

         10  called for a State's review?  To your knowledge?

         11                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: Not to my knowledge.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.

         13                 Is it the responsibility of any

         14  branch of the Fire Department to keep the fire code

         15  up- to- date and if so, how many staff members are

         16  assigned to these duties?

         17                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: Well, we have in the

         18  Bureau of Fire Prevention, we have, currently we

         19  have two people who are assigned on a full time

         20  basis to review various sections of the fire codes

         21  and the fire rules.  There are many other

         22  inspectional units, there are the field operations

         23  people who very often make recommendations where

         24  they identify deficiencies and they will send the

         25  recommendations to us with possibly some draft of
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          2  what they believe is appropriate and then that staff

          3  will work on that.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: In your

          5  experience, would you say that these individuals are

          6  proactive in their role of review or has it been

          7  sort of in reaction to things that are observed in

          8  the field, or unfortunately an incident like at

          9  Kaltech Industries?

         10                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: Well, we have

         11  Inspectors that go out at various times and they go

         12  out to buildings that had fires, let's say a range

         13  hood or where a sprinkler system possibly didn't

         14  work, according to how we felt it should have.  So,

         15  we also have Inspectors that go out and do

         16  investigations.  They bring there findings back to

         17  us and they inter- relate and communicate with

         18  technology management and give them their insight.

         19  So, in regards to being proactive, we do that

         20  continuously.

         21                 MR. HANSEN: Recently, a lot of our

         22  efforts had been directed towards environmental

         23  mandates, the dry cleaning is one of those.  You

         24  know for 25 years they have been using

         25  prochlorethylene (phonetic) and that's been pretty
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          2  much banned for environmental reasons and they have

          3  gone back to this dry cleaning machine.  So, that's

          4  what pushed this.  The industry was coming back to

          5  us and saying, we need to use these machines and so

          6  we got the laws and the rules to make sure that was

          7  going to be done safely.

          8                 The underground tanks, as I spoke

          9  about previously, is another example of where the

         10  Federal and State Environmental Regulations have put

         11  an onus on the City to update the regulations and we

         12  have put a great deal of effort into that

         13  regulation.

         14                 The other area is refrigerating

         15  systems where the halon (phonetic) chemicals and the

         16  freon systems were effectively outlawed and the City

         17  needed to amend its regulations to allow for these

         18  different types of refrigerants.  So, a lot of our

         19  efforts are a follow up to environmental mandates

         20  that have caused the building owners to go back to

         21  some potentially more dangerous chemicals that now

         22  get involved in the Fire Department's jurisdiction.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: How much latitude

         24  do you think your unit has in terms of time and

         25  ability to be able to really get ahead of these

                                                            32

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  things?

          3                 In other words, maybe look at what

          4  other jurisdictions have done in terms of updating

          5  their codes and being more proactive.  Because, in

          6  just listening to your descriptions of what has been

          7  done, it seems like it's in reaction to either some

          8  sort of mandate that has come through.  And, when I

          9  say proactive, I mean being able to sort of look at

         10  where we are in terms of modern modernization and

         11  then referring to what we have as regulation and

         12  being able to make sure that it reflects where we

         13  are.  Not necessarily having to address a mandate

         14  that comes from some sort of regulatory body, or

         15  even look at an incident that has taken place, to be

         16  able to offset future incidents.  But, being able to

         17  really get out there and make sure that you know, we

         18  are protected because our observation is the way

         19  that we have been going about regulating particular

         20  parts of the fire codes, just don't reflect where we

         21  are today.  Is there latitude within your divisions

         22  to be able to get us ahead of that?

         23                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: We have meetings

         24  with the various agencies.  I'm involved right now

         25  in cell phone sites on rooftops, trying to regulate
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          2  the number of base stations on the roof, so that we

          3  can operate on the roof, if need be, at a fire,

          4  where the antennas can be located on the roof,

          5  things of that nature.

          6                 There are always issues that come up

          7  dealing with many aspects of fire prevention that

          8  the Fire Department is called in on to give our

          9  input and to help develop changing laws in areas,

         10  like school dormitories, fire prevention issues in

         11  school dormitories, things of that nature.

         12                 I would say that the Fire Department

         13  is involved with the Fire Safety Directors

         14  Association in dealing with the issues and their

         15  concerns in high- rise office buildings.  We attend

         16  their meetings.  We are also addressing improving

         17  the training for Fire Safety Directors to meet our

         18  needs in fire situations.  This is just a few of the

         19  things that Fire Prevention deals with day in and

         20  day out.  We also have the Rules of the City of New

         21  York, which have recently have addressed many

         22  issues, like fire extinguishers and how they are

         23  maintained, companies that are approved to maintain

         24  fire extinguishers, CNG Rules, LPG Rules.  These are

         25  all Rules of the City of New York, which we add

                                                            34

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  input into and they get incorporated into the Rules

          3  of New York and we enforce methanol, various types

          4  of chemicals in which new rules have been formulated

          5  in the last few years.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And, would you

          7  say that having recognized these new rules that this

          8  application is reflected in a revision in the fire

          9  code?

         10                 MR. HANSEN: I think what we did is --

         11  many of the changes that the Fire Department do are

         12  not in the code, they are actually in the rules.  As

         13  Chief Spadafora indicated recently we have had quite

         14  a few rule amendments, clean agent extinguishing

         15  systems are replacing halon (phonetic), and then he

         16  mentioned portable fire extinguishers.  We had a new

         17  rule on dry cleaning establishments that kind of

         18  supplements what this bill does, is take the

         19  requirements out, but we made regulations, we

         20  adopted a rule, that regulated that particular area.

         21    So, I think that to some degree the Fire

         22  Department is proactive in this.  We try to stay on

         23  top of these things.  We are in constant

         24  communication with the building owners and the

         25  engineers who need to do certain things in their
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          2  buildings.  We are aware of what needs to be done as

          3  soon as they need to do it.  We address those issues

          4  when we have an understanding of the issue of what

          5  their concerns are.  And, if there is a need to

          6  amend the code then we will work to amend those

          7  codes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  So, the rulings

          9  don't necessarily reflect the change in the code.

         10  If there is a violation of the code, associated with

         11  the new ruling, how do we have firm footing in

         12  addressing those violations if we haven't gone back

         13  to address the code to address the rules?

         14                 MR. HANSEN: Well any rule that we

         15  make, cannot conflict with the code.  If the code

         16  says to do something, the rule can't say you don't

         17  have to do that. But, the authority that the Fire

         18  Commissioner has from the code is very broad.  And,

         19  he often will adopt rules that comprehensively cover

         20  a particular area of a particular inspection.  Based

         21  on that, then we have the authority to issue a

         22  violation, based upon the rule that was amended.

         23                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: We can site the rule

         24  for compliance.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.  Let me
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          2  turn to a number of my colleagues, some of whom have

          3  other commitments this morning. I would like to

          4  welcome Council Member Yassky, but I believe -- yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you

          6  Chair Clark.  I do have a public meeting in my

          7  District I must return to.  But, I just want to

          8  briefly say, I thought your answers to Chair

          9  Clarke's excellent questions about the fire code

         10  were really not adequate. The Mayor has made a

         11  commitment, as I understand it, to modernizing the

         12  building code so that we can build more cheaply in

         13  the City without compromising on safety.  And, I

         14  think that it is absolutely necessary that the fire

         15  code be addressed at the same time as the building

         16  code.

         17                 People trying to build affordable

         18  housing routinely cite to me our obsolete and

         19  outdated building and fire codes as obstacles to

         20  providing affordable housing.  I think that needs to

         21  be addressed.  I will submit in writing, I

         22  appreciate the Chair's indulgence for me to speak at

         23  this point.  So, I will not take time now, I'll

         24  submit you in writing.  A simple question.  What are

         25  the three biggest differences that you see between
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          2  the State passed Uniform Fire Code and the City's

          3  and if there are not significant differences, then I

          4  see no reason we should just not do what everybody

          5  else in the State has done, which is adopt the

          6  Uniform Fire Code.

          7                 Chair Clark, I appreciate your

          8  indulgence and thank you also Council Member

          9  Koppell.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Before you begin

         11  Council Member Koppell, I know that Tony Avella is

         12  in the same situation. Oh, thank you.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay, no

         14  problem.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay. Thank you.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Thank you.  I

         17  have one question based upon your testimony.  It

         18  relates to obviously what you've talked about with

         19  Int. 570.  In one of the paragraphs you mentioned

         20  the Department has also established a Social Club

         21  Task Force, which I believe was done after the Happy

         22  Land Social Club disaster in 1990, which was

         23  recently resurrected in the wake of the Rhode Island

         24  fire.  I can't think of a better example of why

         25  Council Koppell's bill should be passed and passed
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          2  quickly because the Social Club Task Force was an

          3  excellent idea, but as we all know government's

          4  attention span is very limited and it's come up at

          5  previous hearings where, I think from the Fire

          6  Marshall Union that the Social Club Task Force has

          7  been desiccated over the past few years, and in fact

          8  they have actually been totally ineffective and I

          9  find it fascinating that you even admit in your

         10  testimony, "was recently resurrected", which brings

         11  to mind that it was dead and now you have brought it

         12  back to life.

         13                 I think this is really an example of

         14   -- we really need to do something and I think you

         15  need to be much more specific in responding to this

         16  legislation.  And, not just say in general terms, we

         17  agree with it, in general terms we don't.  The

         18  Social Club Task Force is an excellent idea -- it

         19  was, but again it has not been used properly and

         20  perhaps the best way to address these issues is

         21  legislation, which can be enforced and this should

         22  be done immediately.  That is my one comment.

         23                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: The Social Club Task

         24  Force is a separate issue than what we are talking

         25  about in regards to inspecting places of public
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          2  assembly.  The Social Club Task Force, I was the

          3  Captain running that operation years ago for the

          4  Fire Department.  The Social Club Task Force

          5  incorporated the Fire Department, Buildings

          6  Department, PD and basically as a result of Happy

          7  Land, which was the legal social club, inspections

          8  were focused on illegal places of public assembly,

          9  culvert, places of assembly that normal everyday

         10  officials did not even know existed.

         11                 So, the Social Club Task Force was

         12  put into effect to look into these culvert

         13  establishments and to determine whether these

         14  premises should have been occupied at all with

         15  legally in regards to how they were operating.  A

         16  lot of these social clubs operating illegally,

         17  contrary to the code, The Blue Angel Law, where they

         18  were operating open to the general public, with

         19  eating and drinking, musical entertainment and they

         20  didn't have the proper fire extinguishing equipment.

         21    They didn't have sprinklers, they didn't have fire

         22  alarms, they weren't connected to a central station,

         23  they didn't have emergency lighting.  These are all

         24  items that they did not have, which The Blue Angel

         25  Law, put into effect. So these establishments were
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          2  operating covertly and also they were operating

          3  illegally.  So, the Social Club Task Force went out

          4  and uprooted a lot of these establishments that

          5  operating in this fashion.

          6                 What we have now in the Fire

          7  Department, is we have Inspectors that go out and

          8  they inspect legal places of public

          9  assembly.  They inspect the places that are open to

         10  the general public. They'll go out and look and

         11  ensure that the codes are being complied with, that

         12  they have the proper fire extinguishing capabilities

         13  according to code, that they have Fireguards, that

         14  they have fire drill conductors and that they meet

         15  the requirements of local law 41, which is The Blue

         16  Angel Law.

         17                 You also have in effect the March

         18  Program.  The March Program is run from the Mayor's

         19  office.  We have participants from the Fire

         20  Department in that program.  They look at different

         21  types of operations.  They may look at social clubs,

         22  they handle complaints from Community Boards.  They

         23  go out and they possibly uproot some of these

         24  illegal places that are out there and are not

         25  complying with the code.
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          2                 So, these are two different aspects

          3  that we are talking about here.  What the Fire

          4  Department did in response to Rhode Island, and in

          5  response to Chicago was we enhanced the number of

          6  teams that we have to go out and do the inspections

          7  on the weekends at night to ensure that the code is

          8  being enforced.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Let me just make

         10  a comment to my colleagues and I want to thank you

         11  Council Member Avella for your comment and your

         12  question.

         13                 There seems to have been some

         14  confusion or some misunderstanding around the

         15  purpose of this hearing today.  So, some of what we

         16  are hearing in terms of reflection from the

         17  Administration is caught up in this confusion.

         18  Apparently, there was an assumption that we were

         19  dealing with the three pieces of legislation

         20  exclusively, however the title of our hearing is an

         21  Oversight of Modernizing the Fire Codes, so to be

         22  quite frank, I think that it is important that folks

         23  be familiar with at least the procedures of what is

         24  taking place within the Department around dealing

         25  with the fire code.
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          2                 I think that we are getting answers

          3  that reflect not having prepared for dealing with

          4  the details of the fire code today.  So, that you

          5  understand the dynamics that are taking place in the

          6  room. I would like to say we are sorry about the

          7  confusion, but we hope that there is something

          8  fruitful that comes from this today because there is

          9  a concern in the public domain about the modernizing

         10  of our fire code.  I hope that some of our

         11  suggestions today will certainly be taken back to

         12  the Commissioner, be as this will be revisited

         13  again.

         14                 Let me at this time ask Council

         15  Member Koppell whose legislation is on record for

         16  today's hearing to bring his comments at this time.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you

         18  Madam Chair. The uniformed gentlemen, I'm sorry, I

         19  didn't catch your name when you first spoke.

         20                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: Ron Spadafora.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Your title,

         22  Chief?

         23                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: I am a Deputy

         24  Assistant Chief and I am the Assistant Chief of Fire

         25  Prevention.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Spadafora,

          3  you say?

          4                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: That's correct,

          5  right.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, Chief

          7  Spadafora, I have some questions to your comments on

          8  the bill.  First of all, as I said in my initial

          9  remarks, I am more than happy to sit down with you

         10  or your designees to work out whatever clarification

         11  or changes might be made.  What I would like to know

         12  from you either now or immediately after hearing,

         13  who it is we should interact with?

         14                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: In regards to

         15  redrafting bill?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Redrafting

         17  the bill so it would meet some of your concerns.

         18                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: I would say myself,

         19  Chief Dau, (phonetic) and I would be interested in

         20  discussing some of the issues that you mentioned

         21  here in regards to fire safety plans, in regards to

         22  what exactly you want the Fireguards to do in

         23  regards to firefighting or evacuation, what type of

         24  training, what type of drills you have in mind in

         25  this Intro.  I find it interesting going through it
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          2  that the possibilities there that could enhance fire

          3  safety.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Well, I

          5  would like to know what you would suggest frankly.

          6  I think the bill suggests what we would suggest, but

          7  really we want there to be an evacuation plan, and a

          8  Fire Safety Code in existence for each of these

          9  establishments.  If we don't state it properly, and

         10  by the way, the staff is prepared these provisions

         11  with looking at the International Fire Safety Code,

         12  this didn't come out of our heads alone by any

         13  means.

         14                 So, we would really like to get from

         15  you, your redraft of that rather than you saying,

         16  what do we want.  What we want to the extent that we

         17  know what we want, is in this bill, but we are happy

         18  to get your proposals for redrafting.  We want to

         19  know what you think should be in the code -- in the

         20  plan, I'm sorry, in the plan that each establishment

         21  should have on file.

         22                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: Well, that's what

         23  I'm saying.  I would like to have some input in

         24  regards to places of public assembly, to be able to

         25  give you feedback in regards to what, from my
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          2  experience, what the fireguard, the fire drill

          3  coordinator, what type of training would suffice in

          4  that type of establishment.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Well, we

          6  would like to have that from you.

          7                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: Well this is the

          8  first -- I just got to see this document just a few

          9  days ago.  So here I have a document stating that

         10  there will be a fire plan, there will be fire

         11  fighting from the fireguard, it's unclear exactly

         12  what type of actions these people are going to be

         13  taking and I've had no input in regards to what the

         14  fire plan is going to encompass.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, we

         16  would be happy to get your input.  I mean the bill

         17  was introduced some time ago.  I don't know how the

         18  City works, I would think that where something is

         19  introduced before this Council that deals with the

         20  subject of a Fire Safety Plan, it would be sent to

         21  you or your people to look at

         22  even before a hearing was scheduled, but that's

         23  water under the bridge.  You now have it.  We'd like

         24  to get your specific comments back.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Council Member
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          2  Koppell, I think that we can certainly move with all

          3  deliberate speed given the nature of our concern

          4  here to work with the Administration to get that

          5  drafted.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Good.  Now, I

          7  have a few other questions, if I may.  How often do

          8  you inspect, let's say a nightclub, a nightclub that

          9  has 100 seats?  How often would your people come and

         10  inspect that to make sure that its premises

         11  complies, that they have the proper fire

         12  extinguishers, that they have the exits they need

         13  and they have a person assigned as the Fire Safety

         14  Officer, which I believe even under law they are now

         15  required to do, how often is that checked?

         16                 CHIEF SPADAFORA:  We try not to be

         17  overbearing.  We have Inspectors that go out

         18  possibly every three months they will go out to that

         19  premises, depending whether they give out a

         20  violation or not.  They go out there, they take a

         21  look around, they will check for overcrowding, they

         22  will check the exits, they will talk to the manager,

         23  they will get a feel of the premise.  By doing that

         24  type of inspection, you get a little bit of an

         25  understand of what type of operation you are dealing
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          2  with.  So depending on let's say the initial

          3  inspection of a premises, you'll get a feel on

          4  whether you should be going back more often, or

          5  going back a little less frequently.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, is

          7  there a minimum number of times you go?

          8                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: In regards to every

          9  single place of public assembly in the City?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Yes.

         11                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: What time are we

         12  talking about, at night when they are operating?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: For the

         14  moment, let me just ask how many times do you go

         15  regardless of the time of the day.

         16                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: They get an annual

         17  inspection. That annual inspection will check all

         18  there resources -- their fire protection systems, it

         19  will renew the permit and then in regards to spot

         20  checks, we have it all on a computer data base and

         21  they can review when was the last time they were at

         22  that premise.  They go out, they do the random

         23  inspections, they get a feel for the premise. If

         24  they give out violations, then the onus is on the

         25  Inspector to go back on the violation to make sure
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          2  that violation has been complied with.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Sir, if you

          4  would confine yourself to answering my questions, it

          5  would go faster.

          6                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: Okay.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  So, you say

          8  that there are annual inspections, at least once a

          9  year.

         10                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: That's correct.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And, how many

         12  people are defined as a place of public assembly.

         13                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: Seventy- five.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  So, every

         15  place that has 75 or more people is inspected once a

         16  year.

         17                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: That's correct.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And, a place

         19  with 75 people, an enclosed space, say on the second

         20  floor, how many exits is that supposed to have.

         21                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: Once you hit 75 you

         22  need two means of egress.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Two?

         24                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: That's correct.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And, that
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          2  could both be on stairways? Is that correct?

          3                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: Yes, that's correct.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And, would

          5  each means of egress have to have a lighted exit

          6  sign?

          7                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: That's correct.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I see.  So,

          9  if there is a place that does not have a lighted

         10  exit sign on two means of egress that would be a

         11  violation of the law.

         12                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: That's correct.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And, that

         14  would be discovered at least once a year?

         15                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: Well, that would be

         16  discovered during the annual inspection.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Right.  Now,

         18  under the current law is it correct that no matter

         19  how many people a place has they only have to have

         20  one trained person on staff, who is trained with

         21  respect to fire safety?

         22                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: We interpret the law

         23  in the Fire Department in regards to the Fireguards

         24  and that's what I train my Inspectors to do.  It

         25  depends on the number of legal exits.  So, if there
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          2  are three legal exits inside the premise, we require

          3  three Fireguards.  One for each exit.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So, that

          5  portion of the bill that requires that is already

          6  the rule, as far as you are concerned?

          7                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: I don't understand

          8  what you are saying.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Well, it's

         10  in the bill that there has to be one fireguard for

         11  each exit.  That's already required.

         12                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: That's good.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  And, when

         14  you go out to inspect, do you check to see whether

         15  those people are -- those staff members have been

         16  trained?

         17                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: Well, they have a

         18  Certificate of Fitness, so you check to see that.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So, you do

         20  check to make sure a sufficient number of

         21  Certificates of Fitness are there?  Is that correct?

         22                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: That's correct.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  What do you

         24  think about the suggestion of the bill, that before

         25  a performance, exits are pointed out to the patrons
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          2  of the establishment, so the way it's done in

          3  airplanes, as I said before. What's your opinion of

          4  that provision of the bill?

          5                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: I think that's good.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: You think

          7  that would be a good idea?

          8                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay.  Well,

         10  that's good because that's one of the more

         11  innovative portions of this legislation.  I'm glad

         12  you support it.  I think it's a good idea. We do

         13  hear announcements now of various sorts, no smoking,

         14  no cell phones, there is no reason why they couldn't

         15  say, please notice where the exits are.

         16                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: People normally

         17  focus in on the way they came in on.  So, their

         18  focus is on the main entrance, main exit and that's

         19  basically it.  Most people will focus in on that

         20  main exit and they will not have any understanding

         21  about any other exits in that premise.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And, as I

         23  read it that was one of the problems in Rhode

         24  Island.  The people all tried to go out of one exit.

         25                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: I agree.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Yes. I'm glad

          3  you agree with that portion of the bill.  I think

          4  that's very helpful.  Let me ask you, places that

          5  are less then 75, are there any requirements with

          6  respect to such places, because there are a lot of

          7  small clubs that may not have 75.

          8                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: Well, there's

          9  requirements.  You have to have an exit sign, you

         10  have to have a door that swings outward in the

         11  direction of egress.  The exit has to be clear,

         12  unobstructed, there has to be somebody in charge.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Now, let me

         14  ask you.  It happens that a few weeks ago, I was in

         15  a restaurant that had a place of performance in the

         16  back.  I don't think it had 75 capacity.  But it was

         17  in a restaurant that clearly seated more than 75

         18  people, the whole restaurant.  The place of

         19  performance was in the back.  Would it be the job of

         20  your Inspectors to go out to look at that to see

         21  whether that complied with the rules you just talked

         22  about?

         23                 CHIEF SPADAFORA:  Well, you have

         24  problems, sometimes the problems with restaurants is

         25  in order to make more money they will add more

                                                            53

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  tables.  You would have to check their floor plan,

          3  the seating plan would show where they are allowed

          4  to have their seating, their tables and chairs,

          5  where they are supposed to be located on the

          6  premise.  You could ask for that seating plan.  No

          7  seating plan in New York City would ever have a

          8  table and chairs set up in front of an exit.

          9                 So, when you go into a restaurant

         10  sometimes you will see a table and chairs set up in

         11  front of an exit, right then and there you know

         12  that's illegal.  No seating plan approved by the

         13  Buildings Department would allow that.  So, there

         14  are things as an Inspector, that you would pick up

         15  on real quickly in regards to dangerous situations.

         16                 And, in regards to entertainment,

         17  depending on the type of entertainment, that might

         18  put them into not only a restaurant, that would put

         19  them into a cabaret situation.  As a cabaret they

         20  would come under local law 41, if their occupancy

         21  law was 75 or more and that would require a lot more

         22  fire protection.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But, if it

         24  was less than 75, it still should be inspected at

         25  the time that the larger establishment is inspected,
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          2  or no?

          3                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: If it's less than 75

          4  they don't require a permit.  They don't get the

          5  annual inspection from the Fire Department, but they

          6  could still get inspected by our night team

          7  Inspectors, which would go in and check.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, I am

          9  going to call you later on with the name of an

         10  establishment where I was and there was probably not

         11  75 seats, but they had a musical performance. They

         12  had one exit door which opened in, exactly the

         13  opposite of what you said is required.  For obvious

         14  reasons, if there had been any kind of fire, people

         15  would have pushed up against the door and nobody

         16  would have gotten out. This was in a large

         17  restaurant that clearly has more than 75 seats

         18  although the space where the performance was, was

         19  less.  I would like to see how you react on it and I

         20  would also like to understand why that space, which

         21  looked to have been there for quite a while, I can't

         22  say for sure, that they were allowed to operate

         23  there.

         24                 CHIEF SPADAFORA:  There are also

         25  things, where they could ask to have two separate
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          2  spaces and each space would be looked at

          3  individually and if each space is less than 75, then

          4  they can circumvent some of the laws and

          5  requirements that we have in place.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Maybe we

          7  ought to change that.  Maybe we ought to look at

          8  that because, I'll tell you the truth, my wife and I

          9  left this establishment.  We were not going to stay

         10  there under those circumstances because we realized

         11  if there was any kind of panic, we were done for.

         12                 CHIEF SPADAFORA:  These are

         13  determinations made by the Buildings Department, the

         14  Fire Department --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I think what

         16  your people should do quite honestly and maybe it

         17  needs to be in the law, is when they go into a

         18  restaurant, they should ask to see all the spaces,

         19  to make sure that not only the main restaurant

         20  space, but other spaces also are safe.

         21                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: Well, that's what

         22  they are trying to do.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Yes, well I

         24  am going to call you with the address of this place

         25  and find out what the record is there.
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          2                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: I get that all the

          3  time.  I get complaints from the public all the time

          4  and we check everything.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay.  Well,

          6  I'll encourage you going back to the beginning to

          7  give us specific comments and I know that the

          8  Committee and the staff will work with you to try

          9  and put this in proper shape.  I appreciate your

         10  support for my idea about the announcement of the

         11  exits.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you Council

         13  Member Koppell.  Council Member Quinn.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.  In

         15  the fire code as it presently exists, or in what you

         16  are looking at to change, do you know what is

         17  presently the situation as it relates to

         18  prohibitions of chemicals?  Are some chemicals

         19  allowed, are others specifically prohibited from

         20  being in some establishments for commercial use or

         21  manufacturing use in the City?  What type of

         22  regulations are either in the fire code or under

         23  consideration to be added as it relates to the

         24  mixing of the chemicals?

         25                 I think part of one of the big things

                                                            57

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  with the 19th Street explosion had a lot to do with

          3  mixing of chemicals.  And also, along the same vein

          4  what are the present or under consideration

          5  requirements in the codes for storage of chemicals

          6  on site?

          7                 MR. HANSEN: The answer to those

          8  questions I don't have the answer to.  I understand

          9  that the model codes clearly identify separating

         10  incompatible materials and in the current fire code,

         11  we don't have those requirements.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  I'm sorry,

         13  because I'm not so great on all the terminology.

         14  So, the City's Code -- you used the word separate,

         15  was that right?

         16                 MR. HANSEN: Well, the incompatible

         17  materials, chemicals that may react with each other,

         18  are typically separated by a distance, so that you

         19  don't have that issue.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Okay.  So,

         21  things that accidentally came into contact with each

         22  other would create an explosion or something, the

         23  City law does not say they have to be kept at a

         24  particular distance from each other?  Is that

         25  correct?
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          2                 MR. HANSEN: In some cases we do in

          3  our code talk about separating them and in some

          4  cases, it's not clear that you need to do that.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Okay. And, I

          6  assume that since you raise it, that the lack of

          7  clarity is something that the Department is going to

          8  take a look at?

          9                 MR. HANSEN: Eventually we will be

         10  looking at that. You know the time frame is not

         11  exactly down pat, but I think the City Fire

         12  Department will eventually be looking at that.  Yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I don't want to

         14  hold you to a date, you what I mean like November

         15  18th or something like that, but is eventually like

         16  in the next couple of months or in the next couple

         17  of years?

         18                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: This is something

         19  that I discuss with Chief Dau, (phonetic) who is the

         20  Chief of Fire Prevention. This is something that we

         21  are taking very seriously, that will have to be

         22  addressed by the Chief of Department and the

         23  Commissioner in regards to how quickly we deal with

         24  Fire Prevention Code, whether it's updated, whether

         25  we look to incorporate an International Fire Code,
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          2  this is something that has to be discussed and it is

          3  something that I cannot give you an answer today on.

          4    I don't have the authority to say that.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Well, I would

          6  request some information back from the Department on

          7  when the overall issue of chemicals on site, usage,

          8  storage and this separation issue is going to be

          9  looked at.  Obviously I am concerned because I

         10  represent the area where this accident occurred, but

         11  a great deal of my district you know is mixed- use

         12  and I have a lot of establishments where things like

         13  this, if there isn't proper control, could happen

         14  again, you know, very close to major shopping areas,

         15  major residential areas.  Where this occurred, you

         16  know, is between 6th and 7th Avenue.  The part of

         17  6th Avenue where there are, you know, many, many

         18  large stores, lots of people all of the time.  So

         19  again, it really could have been a lot worse.

         20                 Sure go ahead, Madam Chair.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  I'm sorry

         22  Council Member Quinn, I just wanted to ask, if we've

         23  already had an incident where separation was the

         24  factor, and we've already discussed to a certain

         25  degree our ability to adjust rules and regulations
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          2  to reflect present time hazards.  If this is one

          3  area we already know and have identified as

          4  problematic in this City, isn't there a way that we

          5  can expedite this specific concern, you know,

          6  exclusive of going through a total review so that at

          7  least we know this is done?

          8                 CHIEF SPADAFORA:  These are issues --

          9  you are asking me about issues that I wasn't told we

         10  were going to be discussing.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Fair enough.

         12  Fair enough.  No need to even go further, I

         13  understand where you are.  We did that, that you

         14  take this back as a concern of the Committee.

         15                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: Which I will.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: If I could ask,

         18  and I completely want to say, as you convey the

         19  message back, that I very much agree with the

         20  Chair's sentiments of given the nature of chemicals

         21  and what happened and that it could happen again,

         22  and also just tragically the nature of needing to be

         23  aware of where chemicals are and who has them and

         24  what they are doing with them, post 9- 11, you know

         25  in this City or any city.  I would just very much
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          2  want to underscore that request to see if there is a

          3  way to look -- if we are legally allowed to look at

          4  this separately.  So, I appreciate your carrying

          5  that back to the Committee.

          6                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: We have concerns,

          7  especially in regards to mixed occupancies where you

          8  have residential portions of the building, as well

          9  as manufacturing, the need for awareness in all

         10  occupants of the buildings in regards to what

         11  chemicals are being utilized or stored inside a

         12  building.  So, we have concerns with that and that

         13  was one of the problems in the 19th Street, at

         14  Kaltech.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Do you know,

         16  just along those lines, one of the questions I

         17  wanted to ask was, is there anything in our fire

         18  code or anything under consideration that would

         19  require companies who are operating in buildings to

         20  put information in the lobby or on their floor,

         21  about what type of chemicals they have in the

         22  building?   So, is there any kind of notice

         23  requirement either in the code or under

         24  consideration so then residents and other workers in

         25  the building would know?
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          2                 MR. HANSEN: No, there isn't anything

          3  in the current fire code that requires that.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I would ask if

          5  you could convey that suggestion back to the

          6  Commissioner for consideration as well.  Do you

          7  know, in inspections in the City is there any

          8  priority given to inspecting facilities that have

          9  chemicals on sites or known to have chemicals on

         10  sites that are incompatible? Are those places with

         11  chemicals inspected more frequently or before other

         12  places, if we know we are going to have to

         13  prioritize?

         14                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: The field units they

         15  have priority listings of the buildings in their

         16  area, it runs from one year annually to every five

         17  years, depending on the type of hazards and nature

         18  of the building.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: What type of

         20  place would only get inspected every five years?

         21                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: It could be a

         22  multiple dwelling.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: But, the place

         24  I am talking about -- so anywhere that had chemicals

         25  would not get inspected every five years.
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          2                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: It would be

          3  depending on the hazards, it could move off the

          4  ladder from every five years, every four years,

          5  every three years depending on the designation given

          6  by the Company Commander of that unit that performs

          7  the inspection. So, they get a classification based

          8  on the type of occupancy, type of building, type of

          9  occupancies involved inside the building.

         10                 MR. HANSEN: Also, just to add what

         11  Chief Spadafora said, that's the field units, in

         12  regards to Fire Prevention, we require permits for

         13  many types of hazardous materials and when the

         14  quantity threshold is reached at any premise that we

         15  typically would be back there every year to make an

         16  inspection to renew their permit.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Do you know

         18  when prior to the explosion, the facility on 19th

         19  Street was last inspected?

         20                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: Prior to the

         21  explosion?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Yes.

         23                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: No. I don't have

         24  that date.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: If you could
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          2  provide that --

          3                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: Like I said, these

          4  are areas that we are talking about now that I was

          5  not given any information that we were going to be

          6  discussing these areas in regards to Kaltech, the

          7  explosion -- I thought we were just talking about

          8  the three Intros. To the law.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Well, if you

         10  could just provide that to the Committee, then they

         11  will forward it to me, I would appreciate that.

         12                 I just want to ask you a question

         13  which does intersect with the Kaltech incident, but

         14  is also just a general question so you might be able

         15  to answer it.  What level of communication is there

         16  between the Fire Department and other City, State or

         17  Federal agencies that are charged with doing

         18  inspections at facilities like Kaltech, facilities

         19  that have chemicals?

         20                 In the case of Kaltech, as I

         21  understand it, there were other entities who did do

         22  inspections, who as I understand it had the Fire

         23  Department known of some of their findings they

         24  might have been able to take proactive steps that

         25  might have prevented what occurred.  But, even if
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          2  not, it seems like at any point but at a time of

          3  short government resources like we are in today,

          4  there should be a way to do info sharing between the

          5  Fire Department and other Inspectors to try to help

          6  us focus on where there are problems or law-

          7  breakers.

          8                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: Well, we are working

          9  on getting data in regards to where hazardous

         10  materials are located inside buildings, so we are

         11  working on getting databases, coming into Fire

         12  Prevention, coming into Operations so we have an

         13  awareness of where these chemicals are stored and

         14  being used.

         15                 In regards to law- breakers, and

         16  communication between various agencies, like OSHA or

         17  DEP, things of that nature, we have an OSHA unit in

         18  the Fire Department.  In regards to Fire Preventions

         19  and dealing with different agencies, I don't have

         20  that information maybe Jimmy does.

         21                 MR. HANSEN: Well, one agency that the

         22  Fire Department works very closely with and actually

         23  required by law to make sure the premise complies

         24  with is the Building Department.  No permit will be

         25  issued by the Fire Department for any premise that
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          2  isn't lawful by the Building Department.  That is

          3  the one agency that we do work very closely with.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: But, beyond DOB

          5  you're trying to figure out having this database

          6  where hazardous materials are, but beyond DOB and

          7  that effort there is no formal communication between

          8  the Fire Department and other agencies who do

          9  inspections at this moment in time?

         10                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: Well, we have an

         11  OSHA unit.  The OSHA unit is a liaison with Federal

         12  OSHA.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: So, would DEP

         14  or any of the other Federal agencies, EPA,

         15  Department of Environmental Conservation in the

         16  State, there is no communications there?

         17                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: Well, there is

         18  communications -- Jimmy --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Well, I guess

         20  what I mean is standardized, so if I go inspect and

         21  I find a problem it is definitely going to get to

         22  the Fire Department's attention.

         23                 MR. HANSEN: I mean we do, not on any

         24  type of systematic or regular way, we do communicate

         25  with New York State DEC people, they call us, we
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          2  call them and we have particular issues that we know

          3  it impacts them, but it is not on an ongoing or

          4  everyday basis.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: If you could

          6  look into whether that type of communication

          7  happened around 19th Street, I would appreciate it

          8  and I would also appreciate you conveying back to

          9  the Commissioner that I think that there is an

         10  opportunity to enhance safety in the City if we

         11  figure out a way. I am sure given the internet, et

         12  cetera capabilities in government, that we could

         13  find a way to do that in a streamlined and efficient

         14  and inexpensive manner.  So, I just urge you to

         15  convey that back as well so we can figure out how to

         16  do that.

         17                 I just want to ask one last question.

         18    You said you are setting up a database about where

         19  hazardous materials presently are.  So, we don't

         20  have that?  That to me is very troubling given- it

         21  seems like the kind of thing in general, but

         22  certainly tragically post 9- 11 we would really want

         23  to have, really be on top of.

         24                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: It's an extensive

         25  database you're talking about --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I'm sure of it.

          3                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: -- Cleaning fluid as

          4  a hazardous material.  As you can imagine it is a

          5  very extensive list that the database has to be

          6  updated.  We have looked to DEP to utilize their

          7  database.  They contract out to get that information

          8  and to have that information updated.  So, we're

          9  looking to get that information brought into the

         10  Fire Headquarters and into Fire Prevention so we

         11  will have an all encompassing knowledge of where

         12  these materials are.

         13                 MR. HANSEN: I think to add to what

         14  Chief Spadafora -- the database is actually what the

         15  information that DEP has, New York City DEP and

         16  where building owners or tenants have identified

         17  that they are storing chemicals.  The Fire

         18  Department has their own database of all the

         19  premises that have come to the Fire Department and

         20  requested a permit and received a permit from us.

         21  So, we have our own internal database of where

         22  hazardous chemicals are stored. DEP has their own

         23  database.  And, what Chief Spadafora is talking

         24  about is kind of merging the two together.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: And, what is

                                                            69

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  your time frame on that?

          3                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: Relatively soon.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Now, do you

          5  think that's incredibly important because what would

          6  give me comfort is knowing that when an Inspector or

          7  somebody went out, they have in front of them that

          8  building address and had a list in that building of

          9  anybody who was permitted to have chemicals and

         10  which chemicals, so that when they went through,

         11  they would immediately know this person doesn't have

         12  a permit to have anything or this permit person does

         13  not have a permit to have all seven of these things,

         14  only four of them, so they could act right away, not

         15  have to go back and call and cross reference, which

         16  gives that person the time to either, you know,

         17  illegally or improperly or even more dangerously

         18  remove those chemicals on site.  So, I would be

         19  anxious to hear as we move forward with that.

         20                 Thank you madam Chair.  I just wanted

         21  to apologize because I am going to have to leave

         22  soon.  We are doing a street renaming in my district

         23  for an officer that we unfortunately lost on 9- 11,

         24  so I wouldn't be able to stay through the rest of

         25  the hearing.  But, I appreciate the opportunity to
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          2  ask questions and look forward to info from the

          3  Department and further discussions about updating

          4  the fire code.  Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I want to thank

          6  you too Council Member Quinn.  I just wanted to ask

          7  one final question gentlemen and this is around the

          8  education of business owners with respect to the

          9  fire codes.  What process does the Department have

         10  in place to educate business owners with respect to

         11  the Fire Safety Code?

         12                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: We recently had a

         13  campaign where we gave out fire safety information

         14  to all business owners who deal with nightclubs,

         15  restaurants, all places of public assembly.  We have

         16  them a five- page document listing Fire Safety Code

         17  information and Safety information to them. We had

         18  the units go out and hand deliver these documents to

         19  managers, to owners, to people in charge in every

         20  single place of public assembly in the City.  So, we

         21  did that as a result of Rhode Island and the after

         22  effects of Chicago. So, we are very proactive with

         23  that right away getting that done. Also, enhancing

         24  the number of Inspectors that go out on the

         25  weekends, in the evening to show the Fire
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          2  Department's presence and our concerns in regards to

          3  public safety.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I want to thank

          5  you gentlemen for your recommendations around Int.

          6  414, Int. 415 and Int. 570. We will be looking

          7  forward to having a further discussion to refine

          8  Int. 570 and I want to thank you also for your

          9  patience given the miscommunication or the lack of

         10  communication around the wider scope of what we are

         11  discussing here today.

         12                 I look forward to following up with

         13  the Department with respect to the modernization of

         14  the Fire Code and I hope that at least some of the

         15  comments and concerns raised here today, is

         16  something that the Department can benefit from.  I

         17  know that the City could certainly benefit from it.

         18  But, if there is a way in which we could look at

         19  your current collaboration to enhance them, to I

         20  guess kill two birds with one stone, as my mother

         21  would say, I think that would certainly benefit the

         22  people of the City of New York.  Again, thank you

         23  both very much and I hope you have an enjoyable day.

         24                 CHIEF SPADAFORA: Thank you very much.

         25                 MR. HANSEN: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I would like to

          3  call our next panel of witness forward at this time.

          4  Dr. Gerald Poje, Mr. Stephen Selk, and Mr. Glen

          5  Corbett.

          6                   I would like to just start by

          7  thanking both Dr. Gerald Poje and Mr. Stephen Selk

          8  for coming to this hearing today, coming and

          9  traveling from Washington, D.C. To inform this

         10  process and of course it's always a pleasure to have

         11  Mr. Glen Corbett who's expertise is always

         12  informative for this Committee.  If you would start

         13  your testimony at this time, but just start by

         14  stating your name and the agency that you represent.

         15                 DR. POJE: Good morning Madam Chair

         16  and thank you for inviting us to testify.  I am Dr.

         17  Gerald Poje, one of five members at the Board level

         18  of the U.S. Chemical Safety Board, or better known

         19  as the CSB.

         20                 As introduced by you already, with me

         21  today is Mr. Stephen Selk, a professional engineer

         22  and CSB lead investigator. Today's subject is a very

         23  important one, modernizing New York City's Fire

         24  Code, which we believe will help prevent serious

         25  hazardous materials accidents, save lives and
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          2  protect property.

          3                 The Chemical Safety Board is an

          4  independent Federal Investigative Agency.  We were

          5  established by Congress in 1990.  We determine root

          6  causes of chemical accidents and make safety

          7  recommendations to government, industry and other

          8  bodies.

          9                 The Board's involvement in today's

         10  issues dates back to April 25, 2002, when a serious

         11  building explosion occurred on West 19th Street in

         12  Chelsea, at a sign- making company called Kaltech

         13  Industries.  Kaltech was a small business of about

         14  50 people, and it occupied three floors in a ten-

         15  story mixed- use commercial building.

         16                 The explosion happened in the middle

         17  of a workday, as Kaltech employees were combining

         18  various containers of hazardous waste chemicals in

         19  the building's basement.  The chemicals included the

         20  nonflammable material nitric acid, a powerful

         21  oxidizing agent and lacquer thinner, which is highly

         22  flammable.

         23                 When these chemicals were mixed in a

         24  55- gallon drum, a violent chemical reaction

         25  occurred, producing heat and gas.  A few moments
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          2  later the drum exploded and sent a powerful shock

          3  wave through the building.

          4                 The center stairwell collapsed,

          5  injuring two painters.  Parts of the elevator shaft

          6  were blown out, a wall caved in, and a fire was

          7  ignited in the basement.  Shattered glass and debris

          8  showered 19th Street, injuring at least one

          9  pedestrian.  At least 36 people were injured in all,

         10  including four whose burns and other injuries were

         11  life- threatening.  Among the injured were six New

         12  York City firefighters hurt during rescue

         13  operations.

         14                 The Board investigated that accident

         15  along with other City, State and Federal agencies.

         16  However, the Board's investigations are unique in

         17  that we look not only at rules violations but also

         18  at the overall adequacy of regulations, standards,

         19  inspections and oversight.  We always have one basic

         20  question in mind: What should we as a society do to

         21  make this kind of accident less likely in the

         22  future?

         23                 The Board found that Kaltech did

         24  violate existing government regulations and good

         25  safety practices.  Hazardous wastes were not labeled
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          2  or characterized.  Workers were not provided with

          3  appropriate safety information or training.

          4  Incompatible chemicals were not separated and were

          5  in fact mixed together, leading to the accidents.

          6                 The explosion at Kaltech resulted

          7  from longstanding safety problems at this firm.  As

          8  far as we can determine, company managers were

          9  simply unaware of pertinent regulations and

         10  precautions, despite operating for ten years at this

         11  location and holding fire permits from the City of

         12  New York.

         13                 How could this situation occur?

         14  Well, first, Kaltech had never been inspected by

         15  OSHA or state environmental authorities, and that is

         16  not atypical for businesses of that size.

         17                   However, Kaltech had been visited a

         18  number of times by City Fire Inspectors, who conduct

         19  about 100,000 hazardous materials inspections every

         20  year.  Over the years, City Fire Inspectors cited

         21  Kaltech for various routine violations, but

         22  Kaltech's deficient handling of hazardous chemicals

         23  was never detected or corrected.  Among the

         24  obstacles, we concluded, was the antiquated nature

         25  of the New York City Fire Prevention Code.         As
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          2  the Board learned at a public hearing earlier this

          3  year, that the code that dates from 1918, had been

          4  amended in only a piecemeal fashion over the

          5  succeeding 85 years.  As a result, the code lacks

          6  many of the present- day hazardous materials

          7  controls that are included in modern Model Fire

          8  Codes such as the National Fire Protection

          9  Association Code and the International Fire Code.

         10                 No New York City Fire Inspector armed

         11  with the code as it currently stands, has adequate

         12  authority to correct hazardous material safety

         13  problems of the kind we found at Kaltech.  On

         14  September 30th of this year the Chemical Safety

         15  Board voted unanimously to recommend that New York

         16  City amend its current fire code to bring it in line

         17  with modern fire codes in regards to hazardous

         18  materials.

         19                 We are recommending five specific

         20  reforms to the New York City Fire Code, at a

         21  minimum.  The code should require that number one,

         22  all hazardous materials are identified and labeled;

         23  two, that permit applications include a hazardous

         24  materials management plan and inventory statement;

         25  three, material safety data sheets are made
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          2  accessible to the workforce; four, workers are

          3  trained in safe chemical handling; and five,

          4  incompatible chemicals are adequately separated.

          5                 In addition, it goes without saying

          6  that City Fire Inspectors will need to be fully

          7  trained on enforcing the proposed new code

          8  requirements.

          9                 Madam Chair, there are many

         10  overlapping safety requirements under local, state

         11  and federal regulations; however, for small

         12  businesses, a City Fire Inspector is often the only

         13  government safety official who will regularly visit

         14  and enforce those requirements.  In those cases,

         15  City Fire Codes and Inspections are the only line of

         16  defense a community has to protect itself from

         17  hazardous material accidents. There are excellent

         18  model code provisions in existence and the Board

         19  urges New York City to adopt them, as so many other

         20  jurisdictions have already done.

         21                 Thank you again for this wonderful

         22  opportunity to testify and we will be pleased to

         23  answer your questions.

         24                 MR. SELK: Madam Chair, I did not come

         25  with a prepared statement.  I am available to answer
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          2  any questions that you or the other Council Members

          3  may pose regarding fire codes and in particular

          4  regarding the hazardous materials requirements in

          5  the fire codes or about the Kaltech incident.

          6                 MR. CORBETT: Chairwoman Clark,

          7  members of the Fire and Criminal Justice Committee,

          8  I want to thank you for inviting me today to speak

          9  about a very important topic, New York City's Fire

         10  Code.

         11                 My name is Glenn Corbett.  I am an

         12  Assistant Professor of Fire Science at John Jay

         13  College of Criminal Justice. My past work

         14  experience, I worked as a Fire Protection Engineer

         15  for the San Antonio Fire Department, where I was in

         16  charge of the building permits issuance by the Fire

         17  Department.  I also worked as a Fire Protection

         18  Engineer for the City of Austin, Texas as well. I

         19  currently sit on the New Jersey State Fire Code

         20  Council, which is the Committee that oversees the

         21  updating and modifications to the State of New

         22  Jersey's Fire Code, which of course applies to every

         23  city and town across the Garden State.

         24                 I have looked at the proposed

         25  regulations concerning dry cleaning establishments
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          2  and the nightclub proposals.  There are certainly

          3  very appropriate changes and will improve fire

          4  safety here in the City.  But, however, what is more

          5  important is, I think we have already heard it a lot

          6  today, there is a recognition that New York City's

          7  Fire Regulations are in desperate need of a major

          8  overhaul.

          9                 Instead of periodically and

         10  comprehensively upgrading fire regulations the

         11  City's approach for many years has been making

         12  changes on a piecemeal basis.  We need to modernize

         13  our fire regulations.  Researching, developing,

         14  preparing comprehensive updates to fire codes as

         15  well as building codes is a very costly and time-

         16  consuming process.  This is served as a roadblock to

         17  revising New York City's Fire Regulations, leaving

         18  them in a catch up mode with the rest of the

         19  country. The situation compromises not only the

         20  safety of City residents, but of emergency

         21  responders such as firefighters as well.

         22                 For example, if you look at other

         23  model code organizations like the National Fire

         24  Protection Association International Code Council,

         25  there are hundreds of people involved in the
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          2  constant updating of their codes.  We are talking

          3  about lots and lots of people.  Specifically with

          4  New Jersey, for example, we do utilize essentially

          5  the International Code Council's documents. We have

          6  again, a standing committee that meets every two

          7  months to look at current issues of fire safety in

          8  New Jersey and specifically looking for any changes

          9  that we need to make fairly quickly to address

         10  specific situations. I will give you the perfect

         11  example.

         12                 In New Jersey and I am sure

         13  nationwide there is a concern about what are called

         14   "overnight stays of young children" in buildings

         15  that are not normally associated for them sleeping

         16  overnight.  For example, it is very common now to

         17  have children go to museums and sleep over, common

         18  to go to facilities that provide, I don't want to

         19  use the trademark name, but a jamboree type facility

         20  where children go and have fun and exercise and do

         21  things like that.  They stay overnight there.  I

         22  know in New Jersey we have had children staying in

         23  the Battleship New Jersey overnight, in a submarine

         24  in Hackensack, New Jersey, in the State's Science

         25  Museum.
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          2                 These are all places that are

          3  designed for other occupancy types.  They are not

          4  designed for children staying overnight. Of course

          5  the concern there is that if a fire should occur in

          6  a facility like that, especially in the middle of

          7  the night, the firefighters responding won't even

          8  know that there is children inside the building.  If

          9  they roll up to a museum they are going to expect it

         10  to be a museum, not with 30 or 40 children inside.

         11                 So we were fairly proactive, we

         12  looked at this issue and we amended the state fire

         13  code quickly to address this by requiring for

         14  example, that there be a minimum number of

         15  attendants with the children that are a certain age.

         16    They had to be at least 21 years old, they have a

         17  means of communicating to the Fire Department, there

         18  is a permit issued, et cetera, et cetera.

         19                 So, that's the kind of thing where --

         20  again this is a very time consuming process to

         21  update the fire code.  This is not three or four

         22  people sitting around a table and making these

         23  changes.  It is literally dozens, and in the case of

         24  New Jersey several, probably 30 or 40 people

         25  involved with this.  And, nationally, hundreds of
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          2  people involved in a constant revising process to

          3  keep up with current challenges in the fire safety

          4  landscape.

          5                 We know that with regard to the

          6  building code we have a similar situation here in

          7  the City that the building code has fallen far

          8  behind the rest of the country.  You know, we know

          9  that for example that we have had several recent

         10  residential high rise fires in the City, which have

         11  lead to fire fatalities.  Had the City of New York

         12  adopted for example model code perhaps even 20 years

         13  ago, those buildings if they had been built under

         14  the model code would have been fully inspected and

         15  those people would be alive today. That's a perfect

         16  example where again the City of New York is in this

         17  catch- up mode with regard to its building and fire

         18  regulations.

         19                 But, of course in the case of the

         20  building code, we've recognized that problem and the

         21  Department of Buildings has created a Model Code

         22  Program basically to over the next 18 months to

         23  update, to adopt a model code and then to provide

         24  those necessary modifications, changes that put a

         25  customized New York City Code out there on the
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          2  streets.

          3                 It is essential that the City of New

          4  York take the opportunity to adopt a Model Fire Code

          5  in conjunction with the Building Code.  So if the

          6  City has settled on using the International Building

          7  Code, it is appropriate to adopt the International

          8  Fire Code as well.  These are two codes in a set of

          9  codes that articulate with each other.

         10                 While the NFPA or National Fire

         11  Protection Association's Fire Prevention Code, which

         12  is the other model for our code that's in existence,

         13  could be adopted, it would be difficult to enforce

         14  it since it's not really coordinated with the IBC,

         15  the International Building Code, that the City is in

         16  the process of adopting.

         17                 An added benefit of adopting the

         18  International Fire Code will also provide the

         19  ability to consolidate the City's Fire Regulations

         20  into a single document.  This is a problem the City

         21  has right now, is that you heard that there is the

         22  Fire Law Handbook and then you also have the Rules

         23  of the City of New York, and you also have Local

         24  Laws.  All things that a Model Fire Code deals with

         25  in one document, not kind of all over the map
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          2  basically.

          3                 In addition, the State of New York,

          4  as we mentioned earlier, has adopted the

          5  International Building and Fire Codes as well and

          6  basically having, using the same model code as they

          7  are will certainly benefit the City and State in

          8  terms of development and ease of development, ease

          9  of design and things of those type of issues.

         10                 I recommend that the City of New York

         11  specifically initiate a fire code adoption process

         12  by establishing a Model Fire Code Program similar to

         13  the one established for the Building Code. This Task

         14  Force should be organized as soon as possible so

         15  that it can work in parallel with the efforts taking

         16  place in the Department of Buildings.  I can't

         17  emphasize that enough that the way the model codes,

         18  both the NFPA and the International Code Council's

         19  Codes are structured, they work as a matched set and

         20  it is sort of like, if you adopt one, you are

         21  missing pieces to it, especially when we talk about

         22  hazardous materials regulations, there is a very

         23  large number of regulations concerning how you

         24  handle hazardous materials, that are in the realm of

         25  the fire code, but of course the way the buildings
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          2  are built and work around the use of those hazardous

          3  materials, is in the building code.  And, again they

          4  are a matched set.

          5                 So, the Model Fire Code Program,

          6  similar to the one that is in existence with the

          7  Building Department, would certainly be called for

          8  now.

          9                 Thank you again for allowing me to

         10  speak on this issue and I would be more than happy

         11  to answer any questions.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I want to thank

         13  you gentlemen as well.  We have been joined by a

         14  member of the Committee, Council Member Hiram

         15  Monserrate of Queens.

         16                 I would just like to start by asking

         17  a number of questions to both Dr. Poje and Mr.

         18  Stephen Selk of the U.S. Chemical Safety and Hazard

         19  Investigation Board.

         20                 Could you explain the role of

         21  municipalities in regulating hazardous waste?   I am

         22  asking because Federal Regulation of these

         23  substances, one does not often hear of localities

         24  having a role in hazardous waste regulation.

         25                 DR. POJE: Madam Chair, the Federal
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          2  Government regulates hazardous waste under the

          3  Resource Conservation and Recovery Act.  There is a

          4  permission under the Act to allow the delegation of

          5  authority for administering the Act to States.  I am

          6  not aware of that delegation possibility proceeding

          7  further.

          8                 In the State of New York, the State

          9  has assumed the responsibility for administering the

         10  Resource Conservation Recovery Act and that matter

         11  did become part of our analysis in the Kaltech

         12  event, where what was going on that day was the

         13  removal of waste chemicals from that facility.  That

         14  facility had been designated as a large quantity

         15  generator of waste and it fell under the more

         16  immediate jurisdiction of Region Two of the DEC, the

         17  Department of Environmental Conservation for the

         18  State of New York, that the State Environmental

         19  Agency has the responsibility for overseeing,

         20  permitting and safe operations, according to the

         21  Resource Conservation Recovery Act in New York City.

         22

         23                 MR. SELK: May I respond Madam Chair?

         24  Your question with regard to how local authorities

         25  might deal with waste chemicals.  My observation is
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          2  that today's Uniform

          3  Fire Code, the 2003 version, published by the

          4  National Fire Protection Association does require

          5  commercial interests in the submission of their

          6  management plan to include chemical wastes.  So they

          7  distinguish from one material to the other and

          8  categorize the chemicals as to whether or not they

          9  are wastes.  So there is a growing interest in

         10  capturing both materials that are raw materials or

         11  used in production and those that are wastes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Well, if the DEC

         13  for Region Three had the, I guess the jurisdiction

         14  for dealing with the hazardous waste of a Kaltech,

         15  is there an obligation for that state authority to

         16  work in tandem with the New York City Fire

         17  Department? How would we, as a Department, be able

         18  to enforce and prevent another Kaltech from

         19  happening if there isn't that type of relationship?

         20

         21                 MR. SELK:  A report into the Kaltech

         22  incident recommends that the local Fire Department,

         23  here in New York City interact with the New York

         24  State Department of Environmental Conservation.  The

         25  way we recommended that was that the State share its
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          2  data with the local authority as to identifying

          3  which enterprises in the City are large quantity

          4  generators.  So that the Fire Department might add

          5  additional emphasis to its inspections in that

          6  regard.

          7                 DR. POJE: If I could just add to

          8  that, our analysis indicated that the Region Two of

          9  the DEC, the State agency, currently has two

         10  credentialed Inspectors who perform other duties in

         11  addition to the inspections of hazardous waste

         12  operations like Kaltech.  They had never inspected

         13  the Kaltech facility and with two credentialed

         14  Inspectors with additional responsibilities, we

         15  believe there is not much hope for the near term

         16  future, other than by strengthening the cooperation

         17  and coordination between such an agency that might

         18  identify those large hazardous wastes generators

         19  operating in mixed- use buildings to further share

         20  information that would create a prioritization

         21  scheme for inspections perhaps and a type of

         22  inspection by hazardous material observant Fire

         23  Inspectors.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: In your

         25  experience working around the nation, have you seen
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          2  best practices where this type of collaborative

          3  effort has been successful in other parts of the

          4  nation?

          5                 MR. SELK: I cannot think of any

          6  particular example. The Board has only been in

          7  operation for three or four years and most of our

          8  investigations involve large industrial explosions

          9  and fires.  This is the first urban building

         10  explosion that we investigated Madam Chair.

         11                 DR. POJE: However, we have seen

         12  similar patterns of Federal Agency regulations,

         13  particularly from the Occupational Safety and Health

         14  Administration, not having Field Inspectors doing a

         15  regular inspection for all of the scope of work

         16  under that Federal Regulation.  So, we do see some

         17  systemic weaknesses and our Board on the issue of

         18  mixing incompatible chemicals and having unwanted

         19  reactions, has asked explicitly for strengthening of

         20  the regulatory authorities and coverage at both the

         21  Occupational Safety and Health Administration and

         22  The Environmental Protection Agency. We found both

         23  Federal programs wanting in this specific area of

         24  reactive chemical safety.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Are the sections
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          2  of the City's Fire Code dealing with hazardous waste

          3  outdated in your observation?  In your opinion?

          4                 MR. SELK: Madam Chair, it would be my

          5  opinion that the City's Fire Code provisions for

          6  handling hazardous materials in general, which

          7  includes hazardous waste are outdated.  I note that

          8  the New York State Fire Code does require businesses

          9  to have material safety data sheets on hand.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Would you pull

         11  the microphone closer to your mouth please?

         12                 MR. SELK: I have noted that the New

         13  York State Fire Code requires enterprises that

         14  handle hazardous materials to have material safety

         15  data sheets on hand for those materials.  That the

         16  materials be labeled in accordance with Federal

         17  regulations.  That workers be trained in emergency

         18  procedures and routine handling procedures for the

         19  specific materials.  That a hazardous materials

         20  management plan be submitted at the time of permit

         21  application. That a hazardous materials inventory

         22  statement be maintained at all times.  These are

         23  provisions that do not exist in the New York City

         24  Fire Code today, except for chemical laboratories.

         25                 DR. POJE:  In everyone of the five
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          2  independently appointed presidential nominees and

          3  U.S. Senate confirmed Board Members, concurred with

          4  that opinion as we've concurred with approval of

          5  this report.  So this is the considered opinion of

          6  individuals with a vast amount of safety experience

          7  that these are matters that need to be attended to

          8  in the City of New York.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  In the course of

         10  your investigation did you have the opportunity to

         11  review sections of the fire code that did not deal

         12  with hazardous materials and do you have any opinion

         13  on whether these sections of the code are in need of

         14  revision as well?

         15                 MR. SELK: Well, Madam Chair your

         16  question is a challenging one, of course I read the

         17  entire New York City Fire Law Handbook, I read the

         18  Rules of the City of New York, as did my colleague

         19  Don Holmstrom who is an attorney.  We, I think to be

         20  perfectly honest, did feel that other sections were

         21  outdated as well, however we are a Chemical Safety

         22  Board and restricted our comments to the area of our

         23  primary expertise.

         24                 DR. POJE: But, to give more specific

         25  emphasis to your request, one of our Board Members
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          2  at our public meeting at the end of September did

          3  just page through the Fire Law Handbook and did

          4  identify a whole chapter devoted to calcium carbide

          5  usage in the City, which reflects a much antiquated

          6  time in City life when that material was in much

          7  wider use for the generation of a acetylene that was

          8  used in lighting in homes and in businesses, but for

          9  which no City in the world today, that I am aware

         10  of, still retains the usage of such material.  So,

         11  great detail on safety and very appropriately for a

         12  time around 1918, when I presume such provisions may

         13  have been held.  It reflected a serious attention

         14  and I think a preventive leadership that you were

         15  challenging others here today to think perspectively

         16  about safety for their times.  The City deserved

         17  honor for its actions perhaps in 1918 in that area,

         18  but to still be retaining them in 2003 reflects a

         19  somewhat antiquated Code provision.

         20                 MR. SELK: And, Madam Chair, that is

         21  one area where model codes are so much more

         22  progressive.  For example, today's Model Fire Codes

         23  speak to facilities such as semi- conductor

         24  manufacturing facilities, where many toxic chemicals

         25  are used. That is greatly different than speaking to
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          2  the use of acetylene in the 19th Century.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: It is my

          4  understanding that there is actually a part of our

          5  Code that deals with wagons.  Is that something that

          6  you found in your review of the fire code?

          7                 MR. SELK: Well, the Fire Law Handbook

          8  does speak to the delivery of flammable materials to

          9  industry using wagons and barrels and --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Wagons and

         11  barrels?

         12                 MR. SELK: -- And requires the barrels

         13  to be kept outside the facility and the transfer to

         14  the tank that is in the facility be made from

         15  barrels to the tank.  So, it does have all kinds of

         16  19th Century features in it that were pertinent in

         17  their day.  And, in my mind it does serve as an

         18  indication of its antiquated nature.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.  You know I

         20  think that's really just dramatizes where we are and

         21  part of my concern since my tenure's Chair here has

         22  been I guess the atrophy that exists with respect to

         23  really getting rid of some of the baggage that we

         24  are carrying.  I mean at this point we are really

         25  weighed down with substantial baggage.  I mean, if
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          2  we are still going to be carrying regulations that

          3  refer to wagons and barrels, we are really mired

          4  down here.  Really, it prevents us from being as

          5  agile as we need to be in today's society.

          6                 So, I want to thank both you

          7  gentlemen for your work in this area.  I know that

          8  you are doing a great service to this nation and

          9  certainly having highlighted our concerns with

         10  respect to New York City, which in many ways is

         11  extremely progressive, but in many ways is really

         12  behind the times.  I think it is a worthy service

         13  that you are doing and I want to thank you for that.

         14                 Mr. Corbett, I have a couple of

         15  questions for you as well.  What are the

         16  implications of having an outdated fire code and is

         17  public safety endangered?

         18                 MR. CORBETT: Yes.  The answer to the

         19  second question is yes.  Having an outdated fire

         20  code leaves not only old provisions that certainly

         21  are inappropriate for today's conditions, but also

         22  leaves gaps, in terms of what is in fact covered by

         23  the fire code.

         24                 The fire code is a document that

         25  deals specifically with hazards.  That's what drives
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          2  the fire code.  It deals less with the construction

          3  of the building and more of what's going on inside

          4  the building basically.  As Mr. Selk mentioned, for

          5  example, semi- conductor facilities are a modern

          6  type of manufacturing process that occurs perhaps

          7  not here in the City of New York, but other parts,

          8  even in New York State actually.  It's not

          9  impossible that a facility like that might come into

         10  the City of New York and there wouldn't be any

         11  regulations that would adequately cover that. What

         12  most people aren't aware of is that semi- conductor

         13  facilities use immense amounts of fairly exotic

         14  hazardous materials.  Things that are particularly

         15  dangerous basically.

         16                 So, the fact again that you've got

         17  these gaps, not only affects the safety of citizens,

         18  but also Firefighters.  For example, there are very

         19  specific provisions in the Model Fire Code dealing

         20  with warehouse storage, for example.  Some of those

         21  provisions deal specifically with Firefighters

         22  safety.  Access to the -- what we call high piled

         23  stock basically, warehouses access to the building.

         24  It is a known fact that type of fire is very

         25  difficult to fight basically.  Again, there is a lot
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          2  of those kind of gaps that we don't even have

          3  chapters that deal with issues that are being

          4  present right now.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Would you say it

          6  is sensible for the City to adopt a Model Building

          7  Code without adopting a Model Fire Code?

          8                 MR. CORBETT: As I mentioned earlier,

          9  they are a matched set and if you were not to adopt

         10  the fire code you would be left with one glove

         11  basically, really where you need two.  They

         12  articulate, they speak to each other.

         13                 I'm on one of the Committees that's

         14  reviewing the Model Building Code and, you know,

         15  every few pages we come across a reference to the

         16  fire code saying go to the fire code for issues

         17  dealing with this particular provision.  So, yes it

         18  would not be a good idea to adopt a building code

         19  because it would also create immense problems of

         20  trying to match an old fire code with this modern

         21  building code.  They just do not go together.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: You talked about

         23  the cost of revising a fire code and I think given

         24  our fiscal situation everyone is extremely sensitive

         25  to cost.  Would you say that it would benefit us to
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          2  do a collaborative review and it would be more cost-

          3  effective in doing that type of revision, as opposed

          4  to coming back at a later date to do a fire code

          5  revision in the City?

          6                 MR. CORBETT: Yes, certainly.  Now is

          7  the time to do it and not later for the other

          8  reasons I mentioned earlier, but also from a cost

          9  standpoint as well.

         10                 You know when the fire code was first

         11   -- now New York City in 1918 was very progressive.

         12  It was right after the Triangle Shirt Waist Factory

         13  fire and some other issues that were going on at the

         14  time.  Fire Codes back then were a couple dozen of

         15  pages basically.  Today, they are hundreds of pages

         16  long.  It is almost impossible, even for the City of

         17  New York, or any large city, to try to keep up with

         18  that, having a standing committee always looking at

         19  this type of stuff.  It requires large amounts of

         20  people.

         21                 It is much more cost- effective to

         22  just put the old book on the shelf and use the model

         23  code and then perhaps have a standing committee like

         24  New Jersey does in terms of looking every few

         25  months, going back saying, hey, is there anything
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          2  going on that we need to change.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  I wanted to

          4  question you a bit about the Jersey process.  Are

          5  the individuals who are involved in the revision of

          6  the -- for the updating of the Jersey codes, I mean

          7  I find it very interesting that you were able to

          8  respond so quickly to the new uses of facilities

          9  where children are involved.  Is that a standing

         10  body, or is that some body that is called up?  How

         11  do they go about actually doing this and

         12  implementing it?

         13                 MR. CORBETT: Well, New Jersey has

         14  what is called The New Jersey State Fire Commission,

         15  which is the over arching group which oversees all

         16  issues of fire safety in New Jersey.

         17                 That was created after a couple of

         18  very tragic boarding home fires over 20 years ago.

         19  Within that Fire Safety Commission are various

         20  Councils.  There is one for Firefighter Training for

         21  example, one for Fire Incident Reporting and there

         22  is one specific one that is a Standing Council

         23  specifically to deal with the State's Fire Code.

         24                 And, again we have a very rigorous

         25  schedule.  We meet every two months.  Any member,
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          2  there is about 30 of us I guess that are on this

          3  Committee, any member can propose changes or issues

          4  that we need to look into.  Any member of the public

          5  can come to our meetings and say, you know, we are

          6  concerned about a particular thing.

          7                 We do get a lot of correspondence for

          8  example from our Fire Officials in New Jersey.  New

          9  Jersey has a Licensing Certification Program for

         10  Fire Officials and also very comprehensive

         11  Inspection schedule, which in my opinion works very

         12  well.  Because what it does, it mandates inspections

         13  be done on very specific basis periodically at least

         14  annually. In some cases, more than annually.  There

         15  is a fee associated with that and most importantly

         16  is if the city or town fails to make the inspection,

         17  the State steps in and takes over jurisdiction of

         18  the enforcement of the code.  So, there is no

         19  getting around on having an inspection basically.

         20  It is done in a very, very organized basis. The

         21  state has a database, you know, of all these

         22  occupancies.

         23                 So, I think it is a system that works

         24  pretty well. I am proud of it.  I have been with

         25  them for quite a few years and I think it's a model
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          2  for the rest of the country actually.  We really try

          3  to make a good faith effort at trying to address

          4  fire safety issues.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Well, I want to

          6  thank all of you for your testimony today.  I think

          7  you have really put your fingers on the pulse of

          8  where we are in New York City, which seems to be in

          9  a state of suspended animation.  And, certainly your

         10  reports are informing our FDNY and we will be

         11  following up with them to look at the

         12  recommendations that you've expressed, particularly

         13  with respect to hazardous materials and the updating

         14  of New York City's Fire Codes. Thank you all very

         15  much.

         16                 We are going to introduce our final

         17  panel at this time.  Just to let you know that we

         18  are kind of pressed for time. Another hearing is

         19  scheduled for this room very shortly, so I would ask

         20  everyone to sort of summarize their testimony, get

         21  to the most salient points so that we can have them

         22  on the record.  Thank you all for bringing your

         23  testimony and being a part of this hearing today.

         24                 Our next panel of testimony comes

         25  from Ms. Sally Regenhard of the Skyscraper Safety
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          2  Campaign, Ms. Connie Lesold, Community Board 8,

          3  Brooklyn Fire Committee and Mr. Bruce DeCell. Thank

          4  you.

          5                 MS. REGENHARD: Good Afternoon Madam

          6  Chairperson. It's an honor to be here once again.

          7  And, I want to begin by complimenting you and every

          8  member of your Committee for the wonderful work that

          9  you are doing.  You're really one of the Committees

         10  that is taking a proactive approach to the very

         11  serious issues that face the people of New York.

         12                 I want to start out by saying that on

         13  behalf of the Skyscraper Safety Campaign, I

         14  certainly endorse all three bills. I want to

         15  compliment the Council Member for his particular

         16  bill regarding these nightclubs and so on.  There's

         17  a lot more areas that need to be covered but for the

         18  sake of brevity I'd like to say that we've heard a

         19  lot of wonderful testimony today.

         20                 I'd like to say that we hardily

         21  endorse the adoption of the International Fire Code

         22  for the City of New York to go with the

         23  International Building Code.

         24                 I would just like to briefly say that

         25  in a sense today I heard a lot of testimony and in a
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          2  sense it is almost as if we are blaming the victim.

          3  I have to say that for at least the last decade, if

          4  not longer, it's been a matter of public record that

          5  the Fire Department of the City of New York lacks

          6  training, technology and equipment.  That was in the

          7  report from the first bombing of the World Trade

          8  Center, it was in the McKinsey Report and it will

          9  continue to be in all reports.

         10                 What I would like to see is the City

         11  of New York take responsibility for really upgrading

         12  the Fire Department.  I don't think we can force a

         13  Department that lacks so much to do what is needed

         14  to be done so I would like to ask and hope that the

         15  City of New York and the Council recognize we need

         16  to have a major overhaul of the Fire Department.

         17                 The only thing they don't lack is the

         18  dedication and the commitment to save people in this

         19  City.  However, it is very obvious that on 9- 11 the

         20  City of New York sent in a Fire Department with

         21  lacking technology and lacking equipment.  And, if

         22  the City of New York can send a Fire Department in

         23  with radios that don't work to prevent them from

         24  saving people, then we really have to acknowledge,

         25  we have a serious problem here.
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          2                 So, I would like to say yes,

          3  everything needs to be improved, I would like to see

          4  more responsibility from the State's EEP, from the

          5  City's EEP.  When they do their inspections, let the

          6  onus be on them also to give this information to the

          7  Fire Department.  But, please focus on the need to

          8  have a total overhaul.  They must need funding.

          9  They need additional funding. They can't do the job

         10  if they don't have the training technology and

         11  equipment.  So, I will just limit my comments to

         12  that.

         13                 Again, thank you all. Members of this

         14  Committee, you are doing a wonderful job for the

         15  people of this City.  Thank you.

         16                 MS. LESOLD:  My name is Constance

         17  Hart Lesold.  I don't know why I said my maiden name

         18  today.  This must go very deep and it does, my

         19  family home, my grandmother's home and my mother's

         20  home in growing up was burned out when I was a

         21  child.  I think almost everyone that lives in New

         22  York City can remember a fire that somehow or other

         23  deeply affected them.  Certainly people who live in

         24  the northern part of Brooklyn can.

         25                 But, that is not what I came here to
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          2  testify for today.  You have before you a newspaper

          3  article from the Daily News that covers some of the

          4  fire that occurred this month at the corner of

          5  Nostrand and Flushing and you have pictures of that

          6  fire.  I felt it was important to bring this to the

          7  Codes Committee meeting for a number of reasons.

          8  Not the least of which was, if you look at those

          9  pictures, they show really up front how you can have

         10  codes up the kazoo and if you ignore them for

         11  religious reasons, or any other reasons they don't

         12  do you any good. Look at them sitting on the entire

         13  fire escape.

         14                 Had those people been in those four

         15  buildings that were burned down that day, they would

         16  have had a very hard time getting out.  Some of

         17  those 100 children that were burned out would very

         18  likely have suffered some serious smoke inhalation

         19  before they did get out.

         20                 I interviewed families in that area

         21  purely by accident who came up to talk to me because

         22  I was interested enough in their former homes to be

         23  taking pictures.  I will never forget the looks on

         24  the faces of the children who had been burned out,

         25  particularly the youngest one, the five- year old,
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          2  who looked like his whole home was destroyed.

          3                 I interviewed an older man on the

          4  next street, who happened to be waiting for the bus

          5  at the same place I did, with his friend.  His

          6  younger friend said to me, he has to find a place to

          7  live.

          8                 You know, the City of New York, what

          9  is it?  Is it buildings, is it the new World Trade

         10  Center, is it City government, or is it all the

         11  people who have chosen to live in New York City and

         12  make it their permanent home as the people of New

         13  York have, who live in all that new building in

         14  Williamsburg. I don't think any of them are planning

         15  to go anywhere and I have never seen construction

         16  going up the way it is going up in Williamsburg.  It

         17  is not strictly a Hasidic community.

         18                 I think the City is afraid to look at

         19  this fire because of the tensions going on in that

         20  community between Black, Hispanic and Hasidic

         21  families supposedly.  I don't think -- I do think

         22  that tension is over- rated.  I think people have

         23  gotten so use to thinking of it as a tense thing

         24  that they don't even try hardly to talk to each

         25  other any more.  But right across the street from
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          2  that is public housing, the Marcey (phonetic)

          3  houses.  It is a very mixed neighborhood and there

          4  must be political leadership to deal with the

          5  dangers of arson in places just like that.

          6                 You see the police cars sitting out

          7  there in front of the houses that were burned out.

          8  I don't know if they are still there now or not, but

          9  you know, we do need to have an Arson Department,

         10  that is not just 100 people in Bay Ridge, but the

         11  City wide.  We need to have our firehouses back, 209

         12  is right around the corner from where that fire

         13  occurred, that took hours and many, many fireman,

         14  what does it say 138 fireman.  It took quite a lot

         15  of them, listed in this article, to put it out.

         16                 We've got to have those firehouses

         17  back.  You can change codes all you want to, but it

         18  is magical thinking that you are going to prevent

         19  all the fires.  As far as I know, the largest cause

         20  of fires in New York City is still smoking in bed.

         21  But when I hear the Mayor talking about smoking, or

         22  anybody else, I never hear them talking about this

         23  effect of it.  We've got to have those firehouses

         24  back.  We have less fire protection for all the

         25  chemicals that you are talking about and all the new
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          2  materials and everything else, than we had at the

          3  turn of the century.  And, it is magical thinking to

          4  think you can code those fires out of existence.

          5                 The people and the families deserve

          6  as much attention as the businesses and they deserve

          7  it in Brooklyn as much as in Manhattan.  And, that

          8  particular fire sits on the edge of at least three

          9  people's Districts so that I couldn't tell you which

         10  side of Flushing Avenue is represented by Yassky or

         11  is represented by Vann or is represented by poor

         12  Congressman Davis, who no longer exists, which means

         13  Gifford Miller for right now.  But, all of those

         14  people ought to get together and have a press

         15  conference and say that they will see to it, along

         16  with the people who are running for office in Davis'

         17  District, that they will see to it that these things

         18  do not occur again.

         19                 If that fire company had been there,

         20  Engine Company 209, I don't think four buildings

         21  would have gone up.  Maybe two, maybe one. But, we

         22  cannot destroy our tax base by taking away the major

         23  way that fires are put out, which is by engine

         24  companies. So, please -- I appreciate the fact that

         25  you have held these hearings, it is very important.
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          2  All these bills are important. I'm sorry that Mr.

          3  Koppell has left.  You can tell him that I

          4  appreciate his bill.  That is not the issue.  It's

          5  just that these bills by themselves will not prevent

          6  death and destruction.  You can go up Eastern

          7  Parkway and every block from Grand Armory Plaza to

          8  Bedford in my own area.  I can show you where

          9  children have died in fires, most of them arson, and

         10  most of them multiple fires.  In every single one of

         11  those fires, fire damage was not evident because

         12  those are very sturdy buildings. It didn't burn down

         13  the whole building it just killed the children that

         14  were in it.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.  Thank you

         16  very much Ms. Lesold.

         17                 MS. LESOLD: Thank you.  Keep up the

         18  good work.  Keep struggling, do not give up.  We're

         19  glad you're in there for Brooklyn.

         20                 MR. DE CELL: Good afternoon

         21  Councilwoman Clarke. Thank you very much for giving

         22  me this opportunity to speak before your Council.

         23  The work you are doing is truly heroic.

         24                 My name is Bruce DeCell.  I am a

         25  resident of Staten Island.  I lost my son- in- law
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          2  Mark Petrocelli in the World Trade Center on 9- 11-

          3  01.

          4                 I am here today as a member of the

          5  Skyscraper Safety Campaign to urge the City Council

          6  to adopt the International Fire Code for New York

          7  City.  New York City has recently adopted the

          8  International Building Code and it only makes sense

          9  to adopt a modern fire code, which can work smoothly

         10  with our building code to ensure public safety.

         11                 In order to protect the public,

         12  passage of new laws can only be effective if the law

         13  adequately funds the enforcement of the law.

         14  Without aggressive enforcement new laws are just

         15  words on paper.  Thank you.

         16                 (Following written testimony was read

         17  into record)

         18  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         19  NEW YORK COMMITTEE FOR OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND

         20  HEALTH

         21                 The New York Committee for

         22  Occupational Safety and Health (NYCOSH) supports the

         23  recommendations in the report of the Chemical Safety

         24  and Hazard Investigation Board on the building

         25  explosion at Kaltech Industries.
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          2                 NYCOSH is a non- profit coalition of

          3  250 local unions and more than 400 individual

          4  activists as well as professionals all dedicated to

          5  the right of every worker to a safe and healthy

          6  workplace.  Part of a nationwide network of 25

          7  union- based safety and health organizations, NYCOSH

          8  provides training and technical assistance to

          9  workers, unions, non- profit organizations and

         10  employers.

         11                 Each year NYCOSH trains thousands of

         12  workers and employers, including New York City

         13  agencies, on topics such as chemical safety,

         14  hazardous waste, fire protection and OSHA law.

         15                 NYCOSH strongly urges the Fire and

         16  Criminal Justice Services Committee to support

         17  reform of New York City's antiquated fire code to

         18  put it in compliance with the provisions of the

         19  National Fire Protection Association Code and the

         20  International Fire Code.

         21                 The events of September 11th and the

         22  explosion at Kaltech both highlight the need for a

         23  stronger and more proactive approach to chemical and

         24  fire safety.  It is absolutely essential that in a

         25  densely populated City such as New York, businesses

                                                            111

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  that utilize hazardous substances be held to the

          3  most protective standards of reporting, safe

          4  chemical management, and worker training.

          5                 We urge the Committee to also create

          6  opportunities for input on this issue from other

          7  affected communities including unions representing

          8  workers throughout the City, from firefighters to

          9  office workers.  Additional hearings with panels of

         10  unions, workers and other communities in New York

         11  City would be very important for a full

         12  understanding of the scope of these problems.

         13                 Thank you for your consideration.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  I want to thank

         15  you all so much for bringing the perspective of our

         16  citizenry to this hearing. And, certainly I think

         17  you know which direction we are headed in with

         18  respect to working with the FDNY, urging the FDNY

         19  and applying pressure to the FDNY to really revamp

         20  itself.  That has been a major emphasis of this

         21  Committee since my tenure here, which was shortly

         22  after the 9- 11 event of our City.

         23                 The Fire Code is another intricate

         24  part of that redevelopment and anywhere you see

         25  resistance to moving this City into the 21st Century
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          2  we must be vigilant in our pressing for change

          3  because we could bring all of the latest technology

          4  and training to our FDNY but there will still be

          5  hidden situations in the City because we have not

          6  informed our code and established the appropriate

          7  relationships in terms of inter- agency

          8  collaboration that will still imperil our First

          9  Responder's lives.  No one would know if in

         10  someone's basement they have chemicals that if mixed

         11  improperly, could cause an explosion that damages an

         12  entire community and puts our First Responder's

         13  lives at risk.

         14                 So, that's another part of this major

         15  equation for redevelopment, reorganization and

         16  revitalization of the FDNY that we also must be

         17  vigilant with.

         18                 And, don't worry Sally, I know

         19  exactly where you stand on these issues and the

         20  Skyscrapers Campaign is certainly you Connie, who is

         21  constantly there reminding me of the obligation of

         22  this Council to the redevelopment of our FDNY.

         23                 We will be vigilant and I want to

         24  thank you again for taking your time to be here this

         25  afternoon.
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          2                 Without any further testimony here

          3  today, I want to thank you all for attending and say

          4  that this meeting is now adjourned.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 12:38 p.m.)
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